



MASTER IN TEACHING ENGLISH AS AS FOREIGN LANGUAGE

The Use of ICT and Educational Software Applied to Teaching and Learning English Language

Thesis to qualify for:

Master in Teaching English as a Foreign Language

Presented by:

Maurício Alves de Oliveira Júnior

Login: BRFPMTFL849707

Director: Dr. Claudia Álvarez

Macapá, state of Amapá, country Brazil 11/22/2017



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 Introduction	1
2 Justifying academic and personal interest of the topic	2
3 Objectives	5
3.1 General objective	5
3.2 Specific objectives	
3.3 Research Questions	6
4 Theoretical Background	6
4.1 Technological Advancement added to Language Teaching	10
4.2 Listening	20
4.3 Speaking	21
4.4 Writing	22
4.5 Reading	
4.6 Integration of new technologies in language teaching	24
4.7 Benefits of CALL	27
4.8 Learner Autonomy	28
4.9 CALL Materials	29
4.9.1 Interactivity	29
5 Research Method	30
5.1 Description of the research approach	30
5.2 Description of the research type	31
5.3 Description of the research tools	32
6. Study	34



6.1 Population an Sample	.34
6.2 Data Analysis and Discusssion	35
6.3 Characterization of Personal and Professional Data of Teachers	36
6.4 Table 01 - The use of Technologies Inside and Outside the Classroom	37
6.5 Table 02 - Environment of use of computers by teachers	38
6.6 Table 03 – The use of Technology and Computer in Class	39
6.7 Graph 01 - The use of technologies	41
6.8 Educational software and English Teaching and Learning	42
6.9 Table 04 - Teacher opinions	44
6.9.1 The use of Educational Software in English Language Classroom	45
6.9.2 Ideal use of Educational Software (ES)	.46
7 Results	47
7.1 The Multifacted use of Technology	48
7.2 The Individual Factors	52
7.3 Prior Training/Experience	55
7.4 Contextual Factors	56
7.5 Main Factors for CALL Integration	57
8 Conclusion	59
9 Bibliography	69
10 Appendix7	74
10.1 Letter to School Coordination	74
10.2 - Invitation Letter to Teachers	75
10.2 Town of Connect	70



10.4 – Questionnaire	.77
10.5 - Teacher Interview Roadmap	.82
10.6 - Completion of the Questionnaire	.83
10.7 - ES classification and Assessment Model for Teaching and Learning English	84



1 INTRODUCTION

The use of ICTs and Educational Software is one possibility for people who want to develop language abilities and learn a foreign language in an autonomous way. In the past few years it has been possible to observe lots of people studying English and buying software in order to improve their knowledge of the language. However, some authors agree that it is difficult to choose the proper software. Concerning to the ELT area, it is important that teachers investigate about software use by English teachers in order to know the possible obstacles prospective learners may face. This research is relevant because it can bring new possibilities to computer assisted language learning, and give some orientations to overcome the difficulties in using educational software. Computermediated language learning (CALL), especially educational software, has been an important resource in teaching / learning English, enabling valuable contributions for English-speaking students as a second language insofar as it provides diverse forms of contact with the language in activities that can be performed extra-class. This work presents a research proposal of an ongoing course on the use of educational software in the teaching and learning of English Language. The research begins with an analysis of the texts employed for teaching English with computers; the use of new technologies in teaching and learning English Language, with emphasis on educational software. The established objectives go in the direction of knowing the pedagogical use that the English teachers make of the educative software; determine the reasons for using these software or not. The methodology is based on qualitative and quantitative case study research with the perspective of a critical look at real-life situations. In addition, it is intended a descriptive approach to the object to be researched in its aspects of: description, recording, analysis and interpretation of current phenomena. Research tools such as interviews and questionnaires will be applied for the necessary data collection. The premises for carrying out this work are that the study of the use of educational software to learn English Language can stimulate reflection on the critical appropriation of information and communication technologies in the educational process, which may also contribute to significant changes in teaching practices at the Federal Institutes of Education, Science and Technology in the state of Amapá.



Key words: Educational software, The use of ICTs, Teaching English, Teaching Practices, Communication Technologies.

2 JUSTIFYING ACADEMIC AND PERSONAL INTEREST OF THE TOPIC

Beyond the professional interest to improve my skills and spread my boundaries of language I also intend to deepen my knowledge of linguistic studies and their importance to our contemporary society. It is known that the world is so globalized and people need training the most to gain an advantageous position and recognition for what they do, with me it is not different, I always want to go high with my own efforts, and this programme gives me an opportunity to reach those goals.

On the other hand, what motivates me is the interest of discovery, research and the love I always felt for the English Language, it will be very useful for my career because I am teaching English at the Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnoloiga do Amapá, and this program also makes it possible for me to go beyond my university graduation. It will be very important also for my economic and professional life. As for the interest of the topic considering the need to teach and learn the English language nowadays, it is also important to think in a way learners learn a second language according their needs and availability of time. The objective is to facilitate the process of learning a second language through the insertion of technology in this field once it also allow us to develop the four linguistic skills using ICTs and Educational Software as we will see in the theoretical background more detailed.

The steps normally performed during an English class such as content explanation, written activities and oral exercises can be considered as a traditional model of transmission of knowledge nowadays developed and applied using technological tools such as multimedia, word processor, WEB sites, educational software to teach english. Therefore, what is expected is that there is more autonomy on the part of the student regarding the use of technological resources to be used since the same resources provide tools that enable the development of the four language skills, that is, speech; listening comprehension; reading and writing.

However, It is also important to consider that online courses fit well in our contemporary society, since people feel motivated to make use of technological



resources available nowadays in our daily lives. Every day the world becomes more connected and the distance courses have shown an excellent quality in the offer of courses as is the case of EF English Live.

However, it is the teacher's duty to seize the opportunity and include digital tools in the elaboration and practice of activities, while focusing on the development of skills proposed by the online services.

A clear example of the effectiveness of online courses is the case of English Live which is the largest language school in the world teaching for all ages efficiently and easily 100% online, however, there is no language course in the contemporary world to run on massive scale education as efficient as the courses offered by Education First by the motive that this mentioned course promote interaction in the target language in real time with a native speaker of the target language.

Much has been discussed about linguistic studies regarding the process of teaching and learning a second language, that is, which method best fits in our contemporary society. However, we can summarize the whole process of learning a second language in just one sentence: interaction with target language.

In the case of online courses the Internet favors research as for example: google translator search, word pronunciation check, language choice options and much more. All at our fingertips and in real time. Thus, we can notice that there are no limits to the use of technological tools and to the elaboration of fun and dynamic classes. The content available online is vast, but it is still necessary and very important the evaluation of these materials, indispensable task for the selection of linguistic contents favorable to the teaching and learning of English language.

The use of educational software is increasing, and this shows us the fervor of the globalized world by the use of the internet in an unlimited way. The acquisition of this type of learning model enriches the school materials and offers students the opportunity to interact with the English language among other languages through dynamic and very fun activities, which certainly stimulates the learning of the language studied.

The use of technology in education promotes teaching and learning and stimulates student interest in content, however, it is important not to exclude English



classes from the digital age and to start using more of the technological resources available to teach the English language.

So, monitoring the development of technology and the world is not just an attitude for entrepreneurs and large companies, English teachers together with language schools should also anticipate changes in society. The subject shows us the importance of technology and its resources in our daily lives. Children are fascinated with computers and the possibility of uniting technology in English class facilitates learning. Showing the child, the enjoyable part of learning a language is very rewarding. Wide horizons, curiosity and culture must be part of the learning process.

It is possible to perceive that the Internet is no longer just a research tool to become a source of exchange of experiences and knowledge, as well as to offer possibilities for learning other languages. There are thousands of people, such as teachers, students and researchers discussing and exchanging information the whole time through online platforms day and night all over the world about different contents.

This clearly shows us that traditional language teaching is no longer confined to the 21st century as people around the world are attracted by the practicality that social networks and distance learning platforms enable in a changing world making it possible the interaction with other peoples.

The Learners can have access to the diverse cultural manifestations of the countries and their customs, it is also possible to practice the language with its native speakers, through sites, social networks and so on. There are also applications that can help teachers make classes more dynamic and meaningful. An example of this is when students have difficulty to understand a word and can autonomously search for its meaning.

The internet has become easily accessible to citizens of the most varied social classes, because with the modern technologies people can be connected 24 hours per day through cell phones, iPads, tablets, smartphones, etc. With all this ease, the internet has contributed significantly to the learning of English and other foreign languages.

Although controversial, the computer in education is a reality, translating different modalities of use and application, in a moment a machine to learn, in another moment a machine to teach. The introduction of technological innovations in social life always



provokes controversy mainly when related to the learning of the English language because financially speaking the English schools in the developed countries make billions of dollars per year with this type of business.

3. OBJECTIVES

3.1 General objective

The main objective is to investigate, through a historical and current context, the FL teachers' perception of their application of ICT and Educational Software in the EFL class as well as to investigate some points related with the attitudes of English language learners towards computer assisted language learning in Brazil, here in special at the Federal Institute of Education, Cience and Technology all over the country. One of the points is that the Institutes of Education are not equipped well enough to make CALL as beneficial as possible.

Another one is the fact that not all the language teachers and professors are familiar with the technology and not all the familiar ones know how to use it for language teaching purposes. Due to limited number of available studies in the subject area and context, the review will not focus just on a specific aspect of computer usage such as internet usage or a specific type of software usage. In this sense, the study examines the attitudes towards CALL in a broader sense and not only the educational software or ICTs.

The studies provide information about attitudes of teachers and students at the "Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Amapá" in Brazil. Within the scope of this review, a lot of studies will be investigated. These studies are focusing on attitudes of pre-service and in-service teachers, as well as students. The studies investigate not only the attitudes but also the motivation and perceptions related with CALL, as well. Analyzing the selecting studies, the review compares and contrasts the teachers' and the students' attitudes as the same way.

The study tries to investigate the attitudes of teachers and students in relation with 1) perceived competency level of their computer skills, 2) perceived barriers, and 3) educational value attributed to computer usage in language learning. Since the study



aims to compare and contrast the attitudes of teachers and students, the topics to be discovered are the ones stated above.

By comparing the teachers' and students' attitudes towards CALL, this study aims to address some of the underlying problems of implementation of CALL at the Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Amapá-IFAP.

3.2 Specific objectives

The specific objective is to analyze the use of computer and the internet as tools to assist in teaching and learning English Language and at the same time analyse how these resources added together can contribute to the training of teachers of foreign languages, English in particular.

Thus, the following specific objectives were defined for this research:

- To know the pedagogical use of ICT by English teachers;
- To verify the influence of teachers' attitudes towards ICT in their pedagogical use as well students;
- Understanding the extent to which ICT can be a tool that makes classes more motivating;
- Check if there is a relationship between the use of ICT and the ease of learning content in the area of English Language;
- To know the advantages and / or disadvantages of using computer and educational software in the English Language Classroom.

3.3 Research Questions

This study had three major research questions. All three questions focused on obtaining information about the participant's personal opinions and actual real-life usage of CALL.

- 1. Do adult participants learning in a second language context enjoy using computer and Internet technologies as a method of English language acquisition?
- 2. Are computers and other online technological resources related to CALL, useful and/or constraining to the participants? What makes these resources useful and/or constraining?



3. What are the computer and Internet technologies adult students are choosing to use for English language learning and their reasons for this selection?

4. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Based on the studies of CALL Computer Assisted Language Learning it became clear that to learn a second language it is necessary to interact with the target language, but the most important thing is to know that besides interacting with the language it is also necessary to use the appropriate resources in order to facilitate this process.

However, taking into consideration the technological evolution in all fields of science, and the use of ICTs all over the world, it is unthinkable leave aside to make use of these important resources also applied to teaching English. In the contemporary world things are carried out through online servers and computer assisted Language Learning became a powerful tool for those people who wishe to master a foreign language quickly and efficiently, in special the English Language because it is the most spoken language worldwide.

Thorne (2003, p.2) affirms the following:

"ICTs can have a significant impact on the teaching-learning process as long as the teaching method adopted perceives students as active participants in the learning process and not passive recipients of information".

Therefore, the teaching of English Language as a foreign language has an ally in the pursuit of learning. More precisely, the computer has become fundamental tool for those who want to learn a foreign language. The technological resources provide an environment conducive to learning through interactive and cooperative activities.

However, the L2 teacher has a significant role in providing a supportive environment for those involved in learning another language. Therefore, teachers and students must be involved together in the teaching and learning process. However, we cannot forget that the teaching and learning process passes first by an assimilation of this technology by the teacher, and so, there is a need for the teacher to be prepared, that is, qualified for it.



Yet, in the same way as the other areas of science have evolved, it is also necessary that the teaching and learning of languages gain more space in the technological world in these lasts days.

In accordance with Levy (1997, p.1) and Chapelle (2001, p. 3), they state the following:

"Another factor that hinders the process of learning a second language with emphasis here in the English Language consists precisely in the lack of teachers who have a proficiency level in the English Language and as the same way in the field of computer science".

As the Internet and the information and communication technologies (ICT) have become the central means of communication and information retrieval in the 21st century, schools should adjust to the situation by revising the teaching methods and trying to integrate more ICT into the process of teaching.

The teaching of English is not limited to using the textbook and other approaches that are teacher-centered. Educationists over the years have advocated the use of methods that make students active in the teaching-learning process. The availability of different varieties of modern-day technologies increases the pedagogical options of teachers and utilizing them carefully can contribute significantly to making the teaching and learning of English more interesting. Moreover, English teachers' low support of technology in lessons can be attributed to the challenges they face.

Even though the unavailability of technological tools or devices appear to be the greatest challenge teachers face, other barriers such as insufficient time and lack of administrative support equally ruin teachers efforts towards technology integration. Such challenges gradually damage teachers' desire to employ technologies in their lessons. Therefore, the success of the students of English Language will be the result of a pedagogical work developed seriously by those who have the goal of facing the challenge of making teaching and learning easier.

Thus being, in order to make the process of teaching and learning a second language easier it is important to understand how this process happens. To understand the difference between acquisition and learning, let's take a brief approach on the process of first language acquisition and the process of a second language learning.



There is an important distinction made by linguists between language acquisition and language learning.

Crystal (2007, p. 427) affirms the following:

"First language' (L1) refers to the language which is first acquired by a child. The term 'second language' (L2) is generally used for any language acquired by a learner other than the first language".

In certain situations a distinction is made between second and foreign language. This leads us to understand that the sounds of the language are the first part to be learned by a child in its first days of life, that is, children acquire language through a subconscious process during which they are unaware of grammatical rules.

In accordance with O'Malley & Chamot, (1990, p. 85) "Second language acquisition and learning strategies can be described as "complex cognitive skills within a cognitive-theoretical framework".

According to Nunan (1990, p. 171) "a strategy is defined as the mental and communicative procedures learners use in order to learn and use language". Nunan explains how at least one learning strategy is underlying every learning situation. However, most learners are unaware of the strategy when engaging in a learning task.

He also reviews the importance of having knowledge of strategies in the learning process. Nunan claims that being aware of the underlying process during the learning you are involved in will make the learning more effective. He supports this theory with research that shows that language learners who are taught the strategies that are underlying their learning were more motivated than those who were unaware of the strategy they are using. Based on Nunan's research, one can say that the choice of strategies during second language teaching will have an important impact on the students' results.

Krashen explains further that "in order to acquire a language, meaningful interaction in the target language is required". "During language acquisition the speaker, or learner, is more concerned with the message they are conveying than the form of their utterance". Krashen calls this Natural communication Ibid (1981, p.1).



In accordance with Snow & Ferguson, (1977) in (Krashen,1981, p.2) "During natural communication, error corrections are replaced by modifications to their utterance by native speakers to help them understand and to help the acquisition process". Through conscious language learning on the other hand, error correction and the use of explicit rules of the target language is considered to help a great deal.

This view, where one separates acquisition and learning it is possible for a language learner to both acquire and learn features of a second language independently and at separate times.

Krashen's distinction between acquisition and learning have been applied and used in many research studies, as most of the recent research regarding second language has focused on the distinction between these two terms.

Harmer (1991, p.33) "presents his explanation of acquisition as a subconscious process, which results in the knowledge of a language whereas learning results only in 'knowing about' the language."

Now that we understand the difference between these two processes L1 and L2 lets focus on the technological resources applied to teaching and learning English Language through CALL that is the core or our study.

4.1 Technological Advancement added to Language Teaching

With all the technological advancement added to language teaching, it is evident that the teacher also needs to become technological, a more conscious professional and more prepared for social transformations.

Cope & Kalantziz (2000) point out that:

"society is in transformation and labor relations also change, demanding professionals who need to decide, to take initiative, to think critically about the functions assigned to them in a hierarchically more horizontal environment".

In this way, being prepared to follow the technological innovations and their pedagogical consequences constitutes an important characteristic in the performance of the teacher.



Although many schools and teachers use technological resources in language teaching, however, the use of technology in this area has not been linear and, even today, access to these resources is not universal.

Thus being, other studies, besides those presented here, would be necessary to understand the social and technical implications of the arrival of modern technologies in foreign language teaching in Brazil and in the World. We can realize, however, the importance of using technological resources for the development of language teaching, by providing tools that, if well used, make classes more dynamic and interesting. The teacher needs to be attentive to monitor the evolution of these resources and keep on improving constantly.

In addition to linguistic and pedagogical knowledge, it is also important to develop technological improvement as for the use of ICTs, so that, in teaching, the teacher feels comfortable to establish clear objectives when using technological resources in his classes.

Today's teacher needs to develop skills that will help make technology a useful and meaningful pedagogical tool at your fingertips. In addition, many discussions, research, clarifications, and government incentives are still needed to integrate technology into our pedagogical practices. In short, the practice of written and oral interaction between people becomes more driven by the development of instant communication features like Icq and MSN. [Icq and MSN is an instant Internet communication program owned by the company Mail.

In the 21st century, the learner has become even more active in electronic interaction by contributing for his own progress. The internet has revolutionized the use of computers and the world of communication as nothing has ever been seen before. It is an infinite mechanism of dissemination of information and a means of collaboration and interaction between individuals, via their computers, regardless of their geographical locations. Some distance learning platforms, for example, allow a mixed approach to technological resources, such as: sharing documents for work to be done in the team through google DOCs, forums, chats, e-mails among others that make the teaching and learning process more accessible, dynamic and interactive.



The possibility of learning a foreign language with the help of the Internet is known as blended learning. It is a term of English, but also used in German and Portuguese, which refers to a hybrid form of teaching. These resources added together allow the users of the network the effective use of the language in diverse situations of communication nowadays.

According to Thorne (2003, p. 2), "blended learning "blends online learning with more traditional methods of learning and development". "Although it may seem like a new concept, the approach of blending Computer-assisted Language Learning (CALL) applications with face-to-face teaching and learning is as old as CALL itself" (Neumeier, 2005, p. 163). That is why it is surprising, Neumeier continues, that CALL as a field still lacks qualitative research on blended learning. "This study attempts to add to the understanding of research methods of blended learning by (a) describing a blended ESL class using parameters for blended learning design" (Neumeier, 2005, p. 164) and (b) employing a case study methodology".

However, it is important to emphasize that it is possible and advantageous to make more use of the technological resources already available in our everyday life to make the teaching and learning of a second or foreign language easier. This perception gives rise to discussions and more research focused on the role of modern technologies in L2 teaching.

There are many computer applications that can help us a lot regarding the process of teaching and learning English language. With the advancement of technology, it has become possible to learn a second language faster and more accurately. Nevertheless, it is necessary to follow a plan of study that can promote the development of the four linguistic skills in a balanced way.

However, it becomes of immense importance to consider methodologies that can facilitate the integration of ICT in educational processes in schools such as: watch TV programs in the target language, watch movies without subtitles, listen to songs in the target language, participate in chats on social media channels, and participate in online courses in the target language such as EF Education First.

In the classroom, today, a methodology based on teaching materials no longer makes sense, the teacher needs to have skills to deal with modernity, being a mediator of the interaction between the student and the computer. At present, the integration of



digital technologies in the school space, especially in the case of English as a Foreign Language, opens doors to the world outside the classroom and offers natural input and immersion in the language, creating individual and collective skills development and opportunities to learn through reading, writing, speaking and listening comprehension.

On computer-mediated communication it is understood that such communication can be a useful tool to encourage greater student participation and to create alternatives to the international standard classroom structure, in which the teacher initiates the shift through a process of interaction between students and computers.

Given the speed and autonomy with which young children and adolescents navigate the internet today, it is necessary that the school, in the person of the teacher, take advantage of these skills in the classroom, joining the matter to be given to what is connected the reality of students, as well as social networks. In spite of the many activities that we can do in an out-of-network computer, such as editing texts, slides and spreadsheets, we can say that for learning English language, the use of internet resources is essential, since the web offers us various materials and diversified.

Undoubtedly, ICTs have brought benefits to students and teachers in language teaching and learning, but it is important to emphasize that if misused they can cause serious problems. The internet has really revolutionized the teaching-learning process, in which we find several resources for learning English as: Websites for practicing listening, speaking, writing and reading, online dictionaries, videos, music, digital books, blogs, online courses among other communicative tasks. Technological resources alone do not revolutionize learning, let alone teaching. It is necessary for the teacher to be trained to use these resources appropriately, otherwise the digital technologies in the classroom may not have the expected effect.

Therefore, taking into account the changes that come from ICTs, where students are connected to technology, a good lesson does not depend exclusively on technological equipment, the teacher needs to have sufficient skills to make the student reflect on the too much information they receive daily and convert them into knowledge. In this context, the challenge of the teacher is to use the digital technologies of communication and information to promote change, from being only transmitter of the knowledge to be a mediator and guiding of the learning.



However, the fact that training teachers in intensive courses and putting equipment in schools does not mean that new technologies will be used to improve the quality of teaching. In computerized schools, both public and private, I have observed forms of use that I call conservative innovation, when an expensive tool is used to perform tasks that could be done satisfactorily by simpler equipment (currently, computer uses for tasks which could be made by tape recorders, projectors, datashow, copiers, books, even pencils and paper) among others.

The technological transformations that our society is going through require a new profile of the teacher and also of the school with respect to the teaching-learning process of the students, but we realize that there is still a lack of investment in teacher training courses, mainly for those who did not have access in their initial formation.

There are different ways of acting in the classroom, but it is up to the teacher to adopt the most effective tools, given that in the face of the rapid transformation that the use of computers has provoked in our society, the greatest risk we face is that we are lagging behind the advances that arise.

The computer will never replace teaching practice, but the use of multimedia along with teacher affection and enthusiasm is an excellent recipe for learning. The teacher needs a training that allows him to use the communication and information technologies in his day-to-day life in a conscious way, that leaves from him the choice to use the ICTs in the classroom and that makes him able to construct a new form to teach and learn from them. The training of teachers has been a much debated topic in today's society in search of a proposal of education that provides a training that prepares the competent teacher and who knows how to learn in a new reality.

However, technology must be an integral part of the educational process and not conceived in isolation, that is, technological resources must maintain close links with society. One can not deny the fact that, like other pedagogical practices, the teaching of a foreign language has also benefited significantly from the incorporation of new communication and information technologies to traditional teaching and learning methods.

With regard to the innovations related to the teaching-learning process of English, the use of the Internet stands out, which has provided educational practices integrated



with various media, making the materials much more attractive to the student. In addition, access to electronic networks has favored interactivity between learners and teachers who can already intercommunicate, exchange information, perform group tasks, receive online feedback and even strengthen ties of knowledge and friendship.

Computer-mediated learning can be very useful for the development of a more complete communicative competence of the foreign language learner. This is justified insofar as the focus of most web resources is on meaning and not form. As a result, the learner will have more opportunities to improve his linguistic knowledge by being exposed to the most varied sources of information through virtual libraries, where he can find all sorts of text about any area of human knowledge.

Another relevant aspect, regarding the use of the Internet for the learning of languages, refers to the enormous potential of this technology to enrich the intercultural knowledge of apprentices. That is, in addition to contributing to the enhancement of the learner's language skills, digital resources can also be of great value for the development of their intercultural awareness. In this sense, access to the network can consolidate the knowledge of the target language, as well as those to target culture.

The Internet, with its multicultural and multilingual nature, excellent tool for the teaching of English in its systemic dimension of rules standards, as well as promoting and facilitating communication among the most different cultures. The objective of teaching English thus exorbit, from the linguistic sphere, to enable the development of the capacity for appreciation and critical analysis of the intercultural diversity of the learner. This, in turn, should gradually become better prepared to use English appropriately in situations of intercultural communication.

So that the Internet becomes, in fact, an instrument that facilitates the process of teaching-learning, it is necessary that some variables are previously considered. Conditions such as number of students, types of technologies available, number and duration of classes, institutional support should be carefully observed by the teacher who wishes to integrate traditional teaching techniques with the new information and communication technologies

Within this perspective, the role of the teacher gains significant importance, since it will be up to the foreign-language teacher to be attentive to eventual historical, social



and cultural discrepancies, involving the different nations, in order to help the student to develop his communicative potential.

The use of new information and communication technologies should favor the collaboration of students and teachers in the development of intellectual activities that may occur in different times and spaces. With the new interactive technologies, the individual moves from a mere passive assimilator of information to an active constructor of knowledge. Such a transition implies a cognitive reordering, a form of organization of thought that presupposes a cognitive subject capable of relatively rapidly processing a wide range of information from numerous information channels.

Computer use in schools also requires changes to educational ideology. It has become clear that faced with the scale and complexity of such changes, implementers needed to be helped in order for them to respond positively to the profound changes required of them, consider such changes critically, accept them where appropriate, and manage the transition process effectively.

The challenge is more prominent in poor schools as these schools experience a shortage of computers for the use of both learners and teachers. However, students coming from more wealthy socio-economic families may experience the benefits as they are exposed to computers at home, and this can be reinforced at school.

Whatever a computer is programmed to do, it can do over and over as often as necessary, which is an advantage, particularly for slower students. Furthermore, computers can retain teaching resources for a longer time, which is almost impossible in traditional classes. In contrast to traditional second language study, student can study more independently, leaving the teacher more time to concentrate on those parts of second language teaching that are difficult to do or cannot be done by computer, such as pronunciation, spoken dialogue, training for essay writing and presentation.

Another advantage of ICT is that whereas in most cases, printed books limit teachers to using the same information repeatedly over the years, computers and ICT have vast resources of information which can be accessed at any time and which is upgraded from time to time.



Many computers nowadays are equipped with narrators and there are also dictionaries with software which can be installed in any modern computer, so teachers and learners can access these voice pronunciations from their computers.

The role of teachers is to ensure that the use of ICT is integrated effectively in their English lessons to improve reading and writing. However, for the teachers to do this successfully, they need the necessary knowledge. They should know the right equipment to be used for a specific task, as well as where and how to access information, etc.

However, one key area of teachers' attitudes towards the use of technologies is the understanding of how these technologies will benefit their teaching and their students' learning. The success of ICT integration is hindered by many factors. The main problem faced by many teachers is lack of training. On the other hand it is understanble that forcing technology down the throats of teachers without adequate training or support, and without allowing a reasonable time frame, is unlikely to improve students' performance in every classroom.

In other words, school principals should support teachers and give them opportunities to learn ICT, give them access to where ICT resources are kept in the school, and allow them to participate in ICT programmes and attend ICT workshops on a regular basis. They should make teacher training the number one priority to enhance their epistemological knowledge. If teachers do not have access to ICT and school principals do not support them in the use of ICT, e.g. by ensuring that when computers are out of order, technicians should at all times be available so that resources can be utilised successfully, or integration will not be possible.

Faced with the scale and complexity of such changes, it becomes clear that teachers must be assured of assistance so that they can respond positively to the profound changes required from them, to consider such changes critically, to accept them where appropriate and to manage the transition process effectively.

"Learning how to use ICT in the classroom involves more than training in hardware and software use. It requires pedagogic understanding of what computer-assisted learning applications are trying to do and of what the hardware and software is capable of doing Robinson, as cited in Passey & Samways, (1997)".



Integration does not involve physical hardware; knowledge for access of these software should be the most important aspect that teachers need to consider. When teachers start to encounter challenges, successful implementation of ICT integration in English lessons to improve reading and writing is questionable and doubtful. As they face these types of obstacles, they choose rather to disregard the use of ICT in their lessons and sustain what they are familiar with.

Teachers have to be aware about its importance in order to give new creative ideas to fulfill the way in which students learn. Every student is different and a teacher must be prepared to give the tools to students to learn; technology use, internet web 2.0, chats etc are excellent options for students to learn and improve the language knowledge and proficiency.

The instant connections worldwide made possible by the internet have revolutionized the way teachers work. This revolution in language teaching is not only advantageous for teachers. The advantages of the internet in language instruction is becoming more and more recognized and a number of internet resources have been utilized by language professionals worldwide. These resources are email, World Wide Web, multimedia, databases, chat, electronic journals and online conferencing.

However, new technology is, to a certain degree, reaching schools, but they are not often used most effectively because of the lack of practical know-how in schools. In addition, old ways of thinking and teaching slow down and at worst stop the evolution at hand. When not used to its fullest potential, new technology loses the benefits of its original purpose.

Nevertheless, without the knowledge of how to operate appropriately the Educational Software and online platforms, teachers cannot be expected to be able to take full advantage of the newest technology. The slow process of progress in the field of education affects teacher training as well. Not enough time is given to informing language teacher trainees of the new technology and teaching them how to use it. With technology, educators are leaving it up to the teacher trainees to educate themselves about technology after graduation.

Teachers are not necessarily any better in bridging this rift between this generation of digital natives and the adults teaching them. Rivoltella (2012) reminds us that teaching is nonetheless transmittance of oral, written and, especially in



today's society, multimedia literacy in varying cultural contexts. New technologies and new media present teachers with all new challenges of teaching not only themselves but also their students about media ethics and digital literacy.

Prashnig (2000, pp. 23-157) notes that traditional teaching is based on using analytical teaching methods. She adds that even the classrooms are made for learners who use the left hemisphere of the brain. In a traditional classroom, learners are often already positioned in a way designed for teacher led lessons, learners sitting in individual desks straight rows and lines, facing the front of the classroom and the blackboard, listening to the teacher and looking at the blackboard, involving the use of auditory and visual skills.

Knowing a language is something more than just knowing how the language system works. It not only involves having linguistic, pragmatic and sociolinguistic knowledge for instance, but also the ability to use various communicative strategies. Nevertheless, whatever approach the language teacher decides to adopt to classroom pedagogy and practice, they will no doubt focus on developing their students' various language skills. These skills are usually divided into four categories: reading, writing, listening and speaking.

Reading and listening are considered as receptive skills, whereas writing and speaking are thought to be productive skills. "Receptive competences always exceed productive ones: for example writing normally requires the ability to read simply to construe or assess one's own production, and the act of speaking usually takes place in contexts which also involve listening and understanding" Saville-Troike (2012, p. 172).

The receptive skills have traditionally had a more prominent role than the productive ones. Yet, to be able to fully communicate students must learn all of them. "Writing and speaking are different from reading and listening primarily since they involve constructing language on one's own rather than interpreting that of others" Saville-Troike (2012, p.172). What sets the two apart are that they are typically addressed to different audiences (readers and listeners), writing allows time for planning and editing while speaking is often unplanned, more immediate and connected to the context of that moment.



The complex skill of speaking entails having to learn many different factors and listening plays a major interactional role in successful spoken communication. "Writing is a common medium for testing knowledge in the world and therefore could be considered as the most important productive activity, especially for academic purposes" Saville-Troike (2012, p.172).

Reading has a central role in relation to developing all the other language skills. In the following paragraphs these language skills will be discussed and some examples of how technology and the IWB or Interactive White Board could aid in producing teaching and tasks that can combine together all areas of language skills.

4.2 Listening

According to Levy (2012, p. 280) "to derive meaning from the language they are listening to, learners need to identify and understand different factors involved in speech, such as sounds, intonation, rhythm and stress", on the other hand for Field (2012) "awareness of language specific phonetic characteristics furthers understanding, whereas unfamiliarity with them may hinder it".

Therefore, technologies can help segmentation, repetition and speed regulation in listening instruction. With the help of new technologies, teachers can isolate speech passages and individual sounds from audio materials, replay and slow down the audio as many times as he thinks necessary. New technologies can also add interactivity to listening instruction, enabling teachers to link audio materials to further information on the subject on hand via a webpage etc. As we know, not all speakers of a language talk in the exact same manner. Especially within languages that have become the most spoken language of the world, since there are a vast majority of variants.

Yet, it is also important to familiarize learners also with other forms of language than the standard language. Teaching through authentic materials and contexts acquaints learners with conversational features of the language. In Brazil for example, there is a vast supply of language textbooks and teacher's manuals with audio materials. Moreover, the audio materials of the textbooks are traditionally designed for specific pedagogical purposes for foreign language learners. Therefore, these foreign language



textbooks are not traditionally presented with other variants of the language which could make it difficult for them to become accustomed to the conversational features of the language.

This could result to failure of comprehension in actual authentic communication scenarios. Luckily today, in addition to the textbooks, teachers have a wide range of resources at hand online, with television broadcasts, YouTube-videos, magazine articles, blogs and social media etc. which allows them to show not only different variants of the spoken language but various registers as well.

4.3 Speaking

Thornbury (2002) describes that "Learning to speak involves knowing the language system, including grammar, vocabulary and phonology". Yet, he adds, "knowing the system does not automatically translate into knowing how to speak the language. Knowing a language is something more than just knowing how the language systemworks". Thornbury (2012) "sees that knowing a language composes of three factors: knowledge grammatical, lexical, sociolinguistic, and pragmatic features of the language, skills fluency, negotiation and management skills and communication strategies".

However, classify these factors involved in the speech act under communicative competence that consists of linguistic, pragmatic, strategic, intercultural and discourse competences. Therefore, speaking is a complex act of interaction that involves simultaneous production, understanding and modification of language, while using all the various skills, knowledge and strategies.

However, as with listening, there is a need for varied examples of speech, not just the standard to develop the necessary skills for successful communication.

With technology, such as the interactive white board IWB, teachers can easily access electronic materials available on the internet to diversify the input received and examples given. Teachers can for example show students various videos of authentic speech situations. Teachers and students can record speech activities in the classroom using a microphone and a document camera or an



iPad etc. attached to the IWB. The video footage can be replayed, edited, discussed and evaluated at the moment and then.

This can provide instant feedback, made by the teacher or the peers, or by way of self-evaluation. Learners can also take part in "Tandem learning": "face-to-face interaction with speakers of a foreign language". Paola Leone (2012, pp.131-132) describes it being very close to conventional peer communication with similar characteristics such as "turn-taking, negotiation of meaning, repairing each other's incorrect language use, code-switching and the use of gestures and body movements. "Consequently, many learners find speaking easier than for example writing, as it permits them to seek clarification and other support from their communicative partners" Saville-Troike (2012, p. 172).

Learners are also likely to need to practice their communicative strategies when speaking with a native speaker whose language proficiency is higher than their own. Leone (2012, pp. 131-133) reports that "especially negotiation of meaning and correcting each other's language use, that arise from misapprehensions, inappropriate target language vocabulary or expression and uncertainty about language use of the target language, are instrumental in the development of L2 communication ability".

On the other hand, Levy (2012) reminds us that "when it comes to the quality and speed of transmission, there are limitations to technology. For instance, the successfulness of videoconferences can sometimes be hindered by the equipment used by the participants: the audio feed may be difficult to hear, or there can be problems with the video (for example the connection may break up or the image can lag behind the sound) that can affect comprehensibility".

4.4 Writing

With regard to writing it is a process of constructing texts rooted in social contexts. The objective of successful writing is to create a well-formed, coherent text that meets the intended communicative purpose in a set context. To achieve effective communication, learners have to utilise their linguistic, pragmatic, socio-cultural and strategic knowledge together. "Some second language learners find the



productive skill of writing easier to acquire than speaking because it provides them time to reflect and edit their language and output" Saville-Troike (2012, p. 172).

When writing, learners need to be aware of, for instance, how their choice of words, their use of sentence structures and punctuation may affect the comprehensibility or the effect produced by the text, as well as understanding the appropriateness of their choices in a particular context pragmatic and socio-cultural knowledge. They also have to be able to use different communication strategies to write effectively: for example: paraphrasing, restructuring or making literal translations from their first language. Peer feedback is also seen to be an important factor in developing the strategy of revision.

Today most of our writing happens in fact in digital environments and is published on the internet, were it by e-mail, in a blog, in the Facebook or any other of the myriad of possibilities online. Therefore, why not utilize this medium in the classroom as well? Teaching groups can set-up their own blogs, social media profiles or internet sites and publish students' texts on them.

There the texts are open to peer-feedback and evaluation in the form of commenting. Texts can be edited and re-posted or written replies can be composed. However, copyright and privacy protection issues need to be considered when publishing students' work online.

With technology and especially word processing programs, editing text is quick and easy. Most IWB software even include handwriting recognition, which enables teachers and students to write their text on the board with a pen (that comes with the board) or with their hand and immediately edit the text on a word processing program or just wipe it away. Technology makes it fast and simple to create and combine various media: text, images, hypertext, video etc.

4.5 Reading

Ediger (2006, p. 303), affirms the following: "To read is to solve problems deemed to be a fundamental academic skill and an introductory skill to independent language learning, reading entails being able to translate meaning from a written text and understand the purposes of the discourse features (for example markers,



cohesion and coherence) used in the particular context employing different reading strategies to construct sense".

In accordance with Usò-Juan and Martinez-Flor (2006, pp. 269-270) "reading requires knowledge of the rules and mechanics of the language (i.e. grammar, vocabulary, alphabet, punctuation etc.), as well as pragmatics (for example register and choice of words) and cultural factors, that may affect the meaning of the text, for example, the socio-cultural background of the target language".

The strategies students use depend on the purpose for reading. Tasks in authentic contexts and reading for specific purposes can help students develop varied strategies for reading comprehension for diverse objectives. Therefore, acquainting students to reading and comprehending various genres of texts, not only pedagogical or academic, and involving tasks for reading for different purposes can prepare students for proficient reading comprehension. Technology aids teachers and students to access and view a multitude of texts online as today almost everything is published on the internet.

Consequently, finding various texts in diverse genres and registers as well as using them in the classroom is fast and cost efficient. Via a computer and a video-projector or an IWB, teachers and students can for example compare different genres of text side by side and discuss them without the need of printing or making photocopies. With the IWB, text can be for instance enlarged, underlined or circled; In other words, the text can be edited and highlighted in a multitude of ways instantaneously right there in the classroom.

This can be done by the teacher, or more effectively, by the students, involving them in the process and getting them physically involved in the reading and comprehension – beneficial to the kinaesthetic and tactile learners.

4.6 Integration of new technologies in language teaching

There is no denying that technology is here to stay but how it is used by teachers and to what extent varies enormously. Taalas (2007, p. 413) reminds us that "even though technology and the ways to use it have developed and multiplied and though technology has been an aid to language teachers for decades, it nonetheless has not become a fixed part of language teaching". Quite the contrary, Hockly (2009), notes that



"teachers have a tendency to integrate very little technology into their classes despite using a multitude of technologies in their daily lives".

This, she adds, may be due to three factors. Firstly, the fear and insecurity of teachers to use new technology and feeling it may be too late to learn how to use them. Secondly, the lack of training and support from the workplace or employer, which renders teachers overwhelmed with knowing how to use new technologies or where to start learning how to use them. And thirdly – which is especially the case in some public schools with smaller schools and areas outside the larger cities particularly in the current economy – the lack of resources: schools simply cannot afford to make investments in new technologies and therefore many teachers do not have access to them.

There are also applications that can help teachers make classes more dynamic and meaningful. An example of this is when students have difficulty to understand a word and can autonomously search for its meaning.

The internet has become easily accessible to citizens of the most varied social classes, because with the modern technologies people can be connected 24 hours per day through cell phones, iPads, tablets, smartphones, etc. With all this ease, the internet has contributed significantly to the learning of English and other foreign languages. Although controversial, the computer in education is a reality, translating different modalities of use and application, in a moment a machine to learn, in another moment a machine to teach. The introduction of technological innovations in social life always provokes controversy mainly when related to the learning of the English language because has become a very profitable business.

Acquisition of the second language or acquisition of foreign language is a subject that has always attracted the curiosity not only of scholars of linguistics but also of people interested in teaching and learning another language. The meaning of acquisition of second language seems simple, but in fact second language refers to any language learned in addition to a person's first language; although the concept is named second-language acquisition, it can also incorporate the learning of third, fourth, or subsequent languages.

Second-language acquisition refers to what learners do; it does not refer to practices in language teaching, although teaching can affect acquisition. The term



acquisition was originally used to emphasize the non-conscious nature of the learning process, but in recent years learning and acquisition have become largely synonymous.

Ellis (2003, p.3) explains that:

"First of all, the meaning of the term second-language acquisition seems clear, but in fact requires careful explanation. In a second context, the acquisition of the second language may refer to any language that is learned after the mother tongue. Thus, it can be referred to the learning of a third or fourth language".

The interactivity provided by Internet, intranet and management environments, where e-learning is situated, according to the socio-interactionist current, is seen as a means of communication between apprentices, counselors and the latter with the environment. The result of a combination between teaching using technology and distance learning has changed the way as the contents are taught. Both modalities converged to online education and Web-based training, which eventually resulted in e-Learning.

Its arrival added new meanings to the training and exploded the possibilities for the diffusion of knowledge and information for the students and, in an accelerated pace, opened a new world for the distribution and the sharing of knowledge becoming also a form of democratizing the knowledge for the population with access to the modern technologies, enabling them to be available at any time and at anywhere.

In order to support the process, the LMS's (Learning Management System) were developed. With the development of technology on the web, real-time interaction processes become a reality, allowing the student to have contact with the knowledge, with the teacher and with other students, through a virtual classroom.

The use of ICTs imposes on teachers a more comprehensive knowledge in both the technical and the pedagogical use, since such competences, according to National Curricular Parameters of Secondary Education (PCNEM), must be integrated so that they are not only useful to inform, but also to contribute to the process of building knowledge in different areas.

According to Perrenoud (2000, p.134), the competence of a teacher in this field is to be: "an alert, critical and selective user [...] an expert of software that facilitates



intellectual work ... and that these tools do not deviate from their professional use and consequently, communication between people becomes more accessible, no matter the time or space in which they are". Therefore, the emergence of new communication and information media computer, internet and web 2.0 allowed a greater interaction of knowledge in several areas.

Regarding the use of these technologies in teaching-Foreign language learning, it is noticed that there are different Moodle, Teleduc, Livemocha, BBC Languages, etc. and many other pedagogical resources such as chats, forums, wikis, blogs that are used for language enrichment communication opportunities with learners.

Nowadays, due to all these technological artifacts that the student has, it becomes difficult to insist on teaching classes only through rudimentary technologies. It is known that the current clientele of students is heterogeneous, a fact that makes it difficult for the teacher to meet a diversity of interests of each one, without incorporating the use of the technological resources that are within our reach and that transcend the school wall.

However, it is necessary to consider the impact of the computer, the internet and its derivatives such as blogs, social networks, MP3s, podcasts, iPods, and all technological devices involving computer science. They are devices that broaden the student's contact with community groups and enable interaction with native speakers of any country without boundaries.

4.7 Benefits of CALL

While there are those who are still sceptical about the use of a computer to teach language (an inherently human activity), the many benefits of a CALL program have been generally accepted. Some of these come from the general field of CALL, while some are specific to language learning.

Therefore, classical language teaching in classroom can be monotonous, boring, and even frustrating, and students can loose interest and motivation in learning. CALL programmers can provide student ways to learn English through computer games, animated graphics, and problem-solving techniques which can make drills more interesting.



However, CALL allows learners to have non-sequential learning habit; they can decide on their own which skills to develop and which course to use, as well as the speed and level by their own needs and students have different style of learning, and an incompatible style for students will cause serious conflicts to them. Computer can provide an exciting fast drill for one student and slow for another.

Another important factor is the time flexibility of using computer enables students to choose appropriate timing for learning. It is also stressed the importance of flexible learning, learning anywhere, anytime, anyhow, and anything you want, which is very true for the web-based instruction and CALL. Learners are given a chance to study and review the materials as many times they want without limited time.

Even so, computer enhances the learning process from a pre-determined syllabus to an emerging or process syllabus. For example, a monotonous paper exercise of 'fill-in-the-blanks' type can be made more exciting on the screen in the self-access mode, and students can select their own material. Therefore, CALL facilitates the synthesis of the pre-planned syllabus and learner syllabuses through a decision-making process undertaken by teacher and learners together.

In sequence, students have freedom of expression within certain bounds that programmers create, such as grammar, vocabulary, etc. They can repeat the course they want to master as many as they wish. Still, drill-type CALL materials are suitable for repetitive practice, which enable students to learn concepts and key elements in a subject area.

Nevertheless, the numbers of English teachers using CALL has increased markedly. In addition, many articles have been written about the role of it in English learning. Although the potential of the Internet for educational use has not been fully explored yet and the average school still makes limited use of computers for some reasons, it is obvious that we have entered a new information age in which the links between ICT and EFL have already been established.

4.8 Learner Autonomy

With a CALL program, learners can work at their own pace, the learner can spend more time on those topics that are causing difficulty. Probably the most



important benefit is that of learner autonomy. Information can be reviewed and tasks can be repeated until the learner is happy to move on to a new topic. The learner feels in control, which usually enhances satisfaction levels with the learning process. However, it is important to bear in mind that successful language learners must assume responsibility for their own learning.

4.9 CALL Materials

Materials can either be authentic, produced locally or commercially. "CALL materials share many of the characteristics of non-CALL material according" to (Levy, 1997). Another commonality is that there is often dissatisfaction with commercially produced materials. However, the diverse capabilities of computers mean that differences exist. CALL enables the integration of sound and video into courseware materials. It adds a dynamic dimension that is impossible with a book (e.g. exercises, links to relevant information, interactivity and feedback.

While several frameworks have been proposed for CALL materials, none has been formulated that captures the unique qualities of CALL materials. There are four different types of knowledge that are necessary for the development of CALL materials: theory of instructional design, theory of language teaching, theory of language learning and knowledge of applicability of technology.

Theories of instructional design involve linking learning theories with the practice of building instructional systems. According to Hubbard, (1987) "there are many different theories of language teaching which include behaviourist, explicit learning, comprehension-based, communicative and humanistic approaches".

Therefore, knowledge of applicability of technology encompasses knowledge of the different types of technology available and their suitability for their intended process. This includes awareness of the alternatives available and their ease of application/implementation and their pedagogical appropriateness

4.9.1 Interactivity

Computers promote interactivity. Learners have to interact with the computer and cannot hide behind their classmates. If the learner does nothing, nothing happens. At the very least, learners have to start the CALL program. The program can only pass



from one section to another with the consent of the learner. Thus learners have to drive the program. Usually they have to use the target language in exercises within the program. They have plenty of opportunities to practise the language in a one-on-one situation. They can practise the exercises as many times as they like, until they are satisfied with their results.

CALL programs promote interactivity using many senses. Not only is text presented, sound can be heard and videos viewed. Sub-titles to videos can be switched on and off. Videos can be viewed in mute mode, so that learners can use various strategies to ascertain what is happening. Graphics can be used to demonstrate not just grammar items (for example, moving words around to form questions) but also for spatial related language topics (for example, the use of "in front of" and "behind").

5. METHODOLOGY

5.1 Research Method

This study was inserted in the paradigm of the qualitative as well as quantitative research with the analysis and observation of an environment in question (Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Amapá) with respect of the use of the modern technologies for the teaching of English Language Through educational software and ICTs. The research activity, initially done with an objective questionnaire produced some quantitative data. In this sense, it was performed using the inductive method, starting from the particular to the general.

Regarding the definition of qualitative research, Patton (2002, p. 227) states that "qualitative methods allow investigation on subjects selected in great depth with careful attention to detail, context, and nuance."

On the other hand, researchers who use the qualitative methods seek to explain the reason for things, besides describing and understand the phenomenon addressed in the research. Complementing this definition, Hancock (2002) describes the nature of qualitative research, stating that "these are related to the findings for the following questions: Why? As? And in what way?". The author adds that qualitative research is



centered on opinions, experiences, feelings of individuals, thus producing subjective data. And yet Hancock (2002) proposes seven qualities of qualitative research: "subjective, holistic, phenomenological, anti-positivistic, descriptive, naturalistic and inductive". On the other hand, Bodgan and Biklen (1998) affirm that "qualitative research can be characterized as: naturalistic, descriptive, procedural, inductive and meaningful". The qualitative research will be guided by six steps

identification of the phenomenon to be studied;
 identification of study participants;
 elaboration of hypotheses;
 data collection;
 data analysis;
 and
 conclusions.

Based on the information presented aforementioned, this research fits into qualitative research because it was possible the direct contact with the school environment where the research was carried out. In addition, it was possible to describe and understand the phenomenon of the use of Educational software for the teaching and learning of English Language in a given context. However, it should be clarified that this study also is a quantitative research because it seeks to quantify the number of teachers that use the ES within a given school context and some numerical variables (example: age group, years of work, and so on.)

The quantification of data is necessary so that it is possible to interpret data collected in the questionnaires and so that it is possible to determine variables and establish connections between them. A quantitative approach aims to determine the relationship between or among variables.

In accordance with Mackey and Gass, (2005) "generally this is statistically tested through correlations, which allow the researcher to determine how close two variables are related to a given research group".

Therefore, it is understandable that qualitative and quantitative approaches to research necessarily exclude each other, or that, by implying different worldviews, must use different research methods. Thus being, in the context in which this work is carried out, evaluation research today requires the use of qualitative and quantitative research tools and typically combines several types of research so that a more positive result can be obtained.



5.2 Description of the research type

This research is configured as a case study, since the research was carried out in a school context, which made it possible to obtain specific information. This research is considered as descriptive because it addresses four aspects: description, recording, analysis and interpretation of current phenomena being classified as qualitative, since its main objective is to investigate the use of educational software by English-speaking teachers of a particular group and is naturalistic, since the data will be collected in a natural environment and is descriptive, because it will describe the phenomena observed.

From the point of view of Hancock (2002) "the case study offers a wealth of information not normally contemplated by other methods".

5.3 Description of the research tools

Characterization of the school in which the data was collected. The objective of this section is to present the data collected through the questionnaires and interviews used in this study, articulating their analysis descriptive and statistical analysis with the respective. Initially, contact was made with the school to explain the research objectives and the documents (Annex 1) and the invitation letter to teachers (Annex 2). By an option of the school, initial contact with teachers was not possible.

Thus, it was agreed that at the next meeting of teachers (07/10/2017) the school staff would deliver the invitation letter to them and they would decide whether or not to participate in the research. At the time, the school had approximately 25 teachers (including four coordinators). The school staff gave the invitation letter to 20 teachers, however, only 14 were willing to participate in the survey.

The following data collection instruments were used: questionnaire (Annex 4), interview (Annex 5), complement to the questionnaire (Annex 6) and an ES evaluation model (Annex 7). Through the questionnaires and interviews it was possible to collect data about the school that uses the educational software, the teachers involved in this process and how they use the educational software.

The evaluation model was important for cataloging information on software used by teachers and for analyzing and comparing it with statements made by teachers.



Questions related to respondents' attitudes, usually include questions about attitudes, opinions, beliefs, interests and values of the participants. The choice of using the questionnaires was influenced by the time factor.

As the research was conducted during the almost one month of the school period, the questionnaires were chosen with the aim of not interfering much in the school routine. However, individual interviews clarified points in the questionnaires that were interesting to deepen.

Thus being, survey-type interviews were used so that some objective questions were answered. After deciding what the collection instruments were, the questionnaire and the guiding questions of the interviews were elaborated. Through the above descriptions, it is important to mention that the interviews followed a style of informal conversation, started with basic questions, starting from the interviewees' speech was moving according to their answers.

The analysis of some questionnaires was very useful because it was possible to elaborate questions about the use of the computer in general, and then to elaborate the more specific questions about the use of the educational software. The Teacher interview roadmap (Annex 5) contains questions that served as the starting point for the interviews.

In all, the questionnaire has three large blocks of questions: 1) The first one is classified as the respondent's identification block, because it has issues related to age, gender, professional status, school education, and so on. 2) The second block concerns the use of technologies (inside and outside school). 3) The last block is related to the use of educational software in the school context. The questions that guided the interviews were elaborated based on the items of the questionnaire. These questions were used to make it possible to deepen the questionnaire and also to make a comparison between these two research instruments.

With this objective, after the preparation of the questionnaire and questionnaire for the interview, a pre-test was submitted for two evaluation to evaluate professionals with the help of the school principal: one coordinator for 49 teachers responsible for teaching courses on research methodology; and four English teachers who uses the computer in her classes. From the comments and suggestions of these teachers were made some revisions of the items and the research instruments.



6. STUDY

6.1 Population and Sample

The selection of the data sample had two distinct moments: the selection of the school and, consequently, their teachers, and the selection of software for evaluation. Initially, a survey was carried out with the main schools in Macapá including the Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnoloiga do Amapá. The Directors provided the names of schools and the materials used by them, so it was possible to draw a profile of which schools used material with CD-ROM, internet and educational software applied to English Language teaching. From these data, it was possible to find out which schools were and, consequently, which teachers used the educational software.

After collecting this information, a list of schools was created and the contact was then initiated by telephone and / or e-mail so that it was possible to visit the school and learn how educational software, internet and technological resources were being used in English classes. After a survey among private and public schools of regular education it became possible to see clearly the difference between public school education and private school. In public schools it was found that very few actually used the technological resources, although most have a computer laboratory to make this practice possible.

The vast majority of teachers left it to the students to choose the best way to use the eduational software that accompanies the teaching material. In general, teachers using the computers in their classes did not use the eduational software. They used more resources related to the internet (video on YouTube, sites, etc.) than the activities proposed in the software that accompanies the didactic material.

It is also important to justify the choice of a certain group of subjects. The fact that the researcher only apply a questionnaire or interview, without explaining the reasons for the choice for a certain group and not another, leaving the impression that it could be anyone. In this work, we chose a language school that has a planning regarding the use of software in the classroom. Teachers receive at the beginning of the semester a calendar containing the proposed activities and among them is the visit to the computer lab at least once a month.



The first contact with the school occurred through a telephone call and then by means of e-mails. After the appropriate explanations were given regarding this research, the research was authorized in the school and then the documents addressed to the School Coordination (Annex1) and the invitation letter to the teachers were given (Annex 2), and the questionnaires were then delivered during the interviews.

6.2 Data analysis and discusssion

In this part, the analysis and discussion of the data are described in three moments. The first moment presents the analysis made through the questionnaires and interviews followed by discussion about the results obtained. The objective was to characterize the 14 teachers in the sample, to describe in which situations teachers use computers, and finally, to detail how English teachers use educational software in their classes. The second moment presents the evaluation of the educational software selected in this work. Then, the third moment presents an integrated discussion based on the analysis of the research with the teachers and the results obtained in the evaluation of the software in order to better understand the reality of the uses of educational software and technological resources in English Language classroom.

Questionnaire (Annex 4) so that they responded according to the reality. After a period of two weeks, the questionnaires were collected and the process of marking the interviews began. Initially, it was possible to establish a certain reluctance to submit the questionnaires within the agreed time, probably because it was the last academic month of the semester (period of completion of courses, correction of tests, and so on.). Gradually, it was possible interview all teachers (Annexes 5 and 6) and collect the questionnaires, completing the fieldwork at the end of July 2017.

In general, the school serves a profile from 12 to 15 years old. These age groups are divided into 13 stages which vary according to age and language proficiency. The initial contact with the foreign language is done through stories, games, and songs. Over the years students in developed countries turn their attention to language skills (reading, writing, speaking and listening) and complete the course in adolescence with an Advanced English Certificate (CAE) from the University of Cambridge for instance.



Students attend 4 hours a week of English classes, involving games, music, recreational activities in and outside the classroom among others technological resources. However, in public schools in Brazil our reality is totally different.

The educational software chosen for analysis meet the 4 levels of proficiency of the English Language, according to the age range of the students. A classification was made based on the stages proposed by the school as shown in the table below:

LEVEL		
Basic level		
Pre-intermediate level		
Intermediate level		
Advanced level		

6.3 Characterization of personal and professional data of Teachers

In order to present a characterization of the personal and professional data of the teachers of the sample (Table 01), we started the observation because it was a predominantly female sample (90.9%).

Variables	2007 a September Verification of the Film	Number of teachers %		
Sex	Female	10	99,9	
	Male	01	09,1	
Age	18 to 25 years	03	27,3	
26 to 35 years		08	72,7	
36 to over 55 ye	ars	00	00,0	
Professional situation	Effective or contracted teacher	07	63,6	
	Teacher responsible for coordination	04	36,4	
	Graduation student on stage	00	0,00	
Service time	1 to 3 years	06	54,5	
	4 to 6 years	03	27,3	



	6 to 10 years	02	18,2
	11 or more years	00	0,00
School education	Undergraduate degree course	05	45,5
(Multiple response options)	Language Institute	00	00,0
Lived outside th	e country	05	45,5
Other situation (is	native to US)	01	09,0
Computer science course	Yes	04	36,4
	No	07	63,6
Learner level	Basic	09	81,8
(Multiple response options)	Intermediate	09	81,8
Advanced		03	27,3
Group for which you tead	ch Children	09	81,8
(Multiple response option	ns) Teenagers	09	81,8

6.4 Table 01 - The use of technologies inside and outside the classroom

It is also important to note that 72.7% of teachers belong to the age between 30 and 35 years old, however, only 5 teachers (45.5%) have an undergraduate degree in letters. The other teachers who taught at school and who did not have a Bachelor's degree were proficient in the language due to the experience abroad (5 teachers = 45.5%) and the fact that they were native to an English-speaking country (1 teacher = 9%).

Data tabulation also shows that most teachers did not take any type of course in computer science (63.6%). Teachers who have invested in computer science have taken part in some kind of typing course, courses to learn how to use the various programs included in the Windows operating system (Excel, Word, Power Point, etc.), and more advanced courses such as photoshop 48 and auto CAD 49 (36.4%), but this is understandable since the school has two units. There is also a diversification regarding



the length of service in the area of English teaching, with a preponderance of 54.5% of the teachers between 1 and 3 years of service in the teaching of English.

It is also observed that a large proportion of teachers (81.8%) children and adolescents, while only 18.8% only teach one of these groups in the academic year that was given this research. With respect to proficiency levels, almost all teachers teach basic and intermediate levels (81.8%), while only three teachers teach at the advanced level (27.3%).

In general, and as we can seen in table 02, teachers use the computer at home (81.8%) or at work (63.6%), and most of them use the computer every day (81.8%) and only one teacher (09.1%) rarely uses it.

Variables		Number of teachers %	
Where you use your computer	At home	09	81,8
	At work	07	63,6
Using Your Computer	Every day 08		72,7
	1 to 3 times a week	02	18,2
	Rarely	01	09,1

6.5 Table 02 - Environment of use of computers by teachers

In relation to the use of the computer for class preparation, the teachers do it for several purposes as shown below:

Numbers of teachers that make use of computers in class preparation:

- (1) Does not use the computer to prepare lessons
- (10) Make use of the internet for research purposes related to discipline
- (4) Audio visual presentations (slides, videos, etc.)
- (5) Elaboration of activities and tests
- (1) Another situation CD-ROM with exercises



In this school, teachers consider as technology several resources (Table 03), among them: the educational software, the internet, videos, DVDs, computer, stereo system, datashow, posters and audio CDs. It is important to note that this questionnaire allowed several responses since it was not addressed (multiple choice).

Variables		Number of teachers %	
Technologies used in the classroom			
Educational Software 0	9 81,8		
	Internet	04	36,4
	Videos	03	27,3
	DVDs	03	27.3
	Computer	03	27,3
	Stereo	01	09,1
	Retroprojector	03	27,3
	Audio CDs	02	18,2
Frequency used by the laboratory of com-	puting	art hariging t	
	Never	00	00,0
	Sometimes	10	90,9
	Often	01	09,1

6.6 Table 03 - The use of Technology and Computer in Class

All teachers answered the question about what the benefits of classroom technology would be, and the benefits of student motivation, change and diversification of the classroom routine, the possibility of computer games, and ease of use. Among the observations made by the teachers the speech of one of them drew attention by portraying reality outside the classroom. The teachers participating in this study had the names preserved and T (uppercase) followed by numbering was used to identify them. Let's read the following statement made by the teacher interviewed:

"The technologies have an interesting appeal, because they connect with reality outside the classroom, bringing extra material, mainly related to the most natural manifestations of the language taught." (T7)



Another professor highlighted the diversity and different resources of computers as benefits:

"I believe that the diversification and use of different resources attract the interest of the student, motivating him significantly. In addition, audiovisual and / or interactive features are more likely to reach each student's individual learning styles." (T9)

Other teachers highlighted the benefits that software provides for certain activities such as listening comprehension, they state the following:

"I believe these technologies facilitate student learning as they provide direct student contact with the language as in the case of listening activities." (T10) In addition to offering a range of vocabulary activities, other than those in the classroom: "Children love play and we have the opportunity to practice vocabulary in different situations in the classroom." (T11).

The above data were collected from the questionnaires completed by the teachers and mapped the benefits of using technologies through an open question. However, in conducting the interviews, this question again in the form of a completeness (Annex 6) to the interview but with guided responses (multiple choice) as a way of confirming and collecting more data what teachers think about the benefits of technology. Graph 02 (on the next page) presents the results of this question of multiple choice and in some cases, confirms or in other cases contrasts some opinions of the interviewees presented in the open question.

The teachers reaffirmed through the multiple-choice and "... the diversification and use of different resources attract the interest of the student, motivating him significantly ... "(T9) and because they" change the classroom routine "(T1) beyond "To leave the routine inside a conventional classroom" (T5); These statements possible verification through the response given in item 1, where all the teachers consider that the use of technologies allows education, in addition to considering that the use of technologies promotes more focused on the students (item 6) and reaffirmed in the teacher's speech (T9): the "Audio-visual and / or interactive features are more likely to different individual learning styles of each student. " Another positive point it was pointed out that with the use of technologies there is a possibility that (Item 08), which was



confirmed by T11: "Children love play and we have the opportunity to practice vocabulary in situations different from the classroom ".

The use of technologies



- 1) It allows more diversification of teaching
- 2) Requires more preparation
- 3) Requires greater availability of time.
- 4) It requires more time to teach content.
- 5) Facilitates group work.
- 6) Promotes more student-centered teaching strategies.
- ■7) It favors the meaning and applications of English.

6.7 Graph 01 - The use of technologies

It is also important to highlight the speech of another teacher calling attention so that the use of the computer and its benefits are not just another tool in the classroom:

"Today, technology is accessible to virtually every age group. The use of technology in the classroom is good if we take into account the practicality, the quick information and the playful, but it should be an attraction, something to add and not a crutch for the teacher. Otherwise, the proposed use of technology in the classroom will be unsuccessful." (T3)

Regarding the frequency with which teachers visit the computer lab with their students, 90.9% of the teachers (data in Table 03) use the laboratory at least once a month with their students since "the planning of school provides for use once a month "(T7). Another teacher points out that he uses the Laboratory "according to the availability of time and sequence in the planning "(T3). In relation to the activities that teachers carried out with their students using the computer, most of them are based on auditory and visual experiences.



6.8 Educational software and English Teaching and Learning – Teachers Perception

As verified in the questionnaire data, 100% of the teachers use the Educational software in their classes, mainly because the school has a planning to use the computer lab at least once a month. In addition to this reason, the teachers emphasized that the educational software works, because they use "intensely colors, images and connect with the reality of the students" (T7), and "offer extra practice in the subjects addressed in the classroom in a fun way. "Among other aspects, educational software also make the teaching and learning process more varied and less focused on the teacher-student-student relationship "(T2).

When asked about the factors that favor the pedagogical use of the ES, the teachers pointed to teacher-student-computer interactivity (T2 and T5); The visual attractiveness, novelty, speed and practicality of Educational software (T3 and T6); "Knowledge of the technology used and the conditions for employing it in an efficient form "(T8); and the fact that the school has an adequate infrastructure with a computer room and available software (T9 and T11).

It was asked in the questionnaires about the factors that the teacher considers important for the use of the educational software in English classes, these factors were classified in three divisions: the factors related to the methodology and the use of the didactic material, those related to the school and those related to the teacher. Regarding the factors related to the methodology and the use of the didactic material, all the options were pointed out and there was a balance between them.

It is interesting to note that the most voted items were those related to methodology and ease of use. Only seven teachers considered the ES source of innovative materials and its use as appropriate to the English curriculum in the total of (eight teachers).

Table 4 on the next page had the objective of surveying teachers' opinions about knowledge and use of ES, classroom experiences, pedagogical advantages and attitudes of the school and students towards ES. Of the group of teachers, 81.8% agreed



that they would like to know / learn more about the use of the ES and feel apt to use it, besides the classes where the educational software are used to motivate the students. In addition, the majority claim that the use of ES in English class requires a new conception of teaching and learning taking into account the changes that occurred due to technological advancement in the 21st century.

	I completely agree	Agree		Disagree	Completely disagree
I would like to know / learn more about using ES	2	9 .			
Using ES in English classes makes them more motivating for students.	8	2	1		
I use ES to my advantage, but I do not know how to teach my students to use them.		3		6	2
I think Educational Software makes my teacher's routines easier.	1	2	2	6	
I think that ES helps my students acquire / reinforce new and effective knowledge.	3	7	1	garrarba li	
I have never been trained in ES and I do not know the possibilities that I have.		2	4	2	3
The use of ES in English classes requires me to have new skills as a teacher.	2	6	torest.	2	1
I feel apt to use ES.	5	6			



My school does not have the conditions to use the computer / ES in English classes.		1		2	6
My school has a positive attitude toward using ES.	8	3	TIE HE		
"My students, in many cases, dominate computers better than I do	1	4	3	2	1
I do not feel motivated to use ES with my students.		1	1	4	5
I do not know in depth the pedagogical advantages of using ES for my students	5	1	3	2	

6.9 Table 04 - Teacher opinions

One item that had a balance of responses was the fact that the advantages of using ES for students were well known, teachers were among the options agreed (45.5%) and totally disagree / disagree (45.5%), . There seems to be some doubt about the pedagogical advantages of using ES, and this statement can also be confirmed by evaluating that 100% of teachers confess they would like to know / learn more about ES use.

Regarding the role of the school, all teachers (to varying degrees of opinion) agree that the school has a positive attitude towards the use of ES. 90.9% of teachers believe that the school has the conditions to use the computer / ES in class and only one teacher disagreed with this fact. Some teachers (45.5%) perceived that their students dominate more knowledge about computers than themselves, and 90.9% of those surveyed stated that the ES assists in the acquisition and reinforcement of knowledge by the students.



6.9.1 The use of Educational Software in English Language Classroom

This section of the assessment describes how teachers use ES and also suggests what their ideal use would be. Regarding the use of the ES, teachers were unanimous in saying that they use it in activities and games related to content worked in the classroom (T2) and to review content presented in the classroom and as a recreational activity (T10).

However, these activities are only carried out after introducing the subject (T1 and also after the explanation and exercise (T4) based on the subject studied. In addition, the activities carried out with the ES are always associated with school planning (T3) and (T6). In relation to participation, students usually work in pairs and the chosen activities (games or exercises) are directly related to the subject being given and last about 20 minutes "(T9). A teacher emphasized that the participation of the students occurs in an interactive way (T8), since they can participate in the choice of activities as long as they are related to the studied content.

It was noticed through the teachers' speech that the fact that the school provides for the use of the computer lab facilitates the visit and the exploration of the environment. All teachers consider the school's attitude toward planning ES use and directing teachers to this use. However, no instrument was able to identify whether the use of the laboratory and the ES was left to the teachers alone, if it would occur and occur with the same frequency. The existence of the laboratory and the planning of the use of the same, initially can be considered as a positive point, however this aspect can establish an obligation for that it is used. This situation also does not favor the teacher's research regarding which software is the most appropriate for certain content because it was a choice of the school when choosing to use the laboratory and the ES in a uniform manner and according to a pedagogical orientation, that only 45.5% of the teachers have an academic degree in literature and these would be the most apt to make the choice.

Another point that should be discussed and rethought by the school is the question of the use of ES only after the introduction of content and after oral or written practice in the classroom, functioning only as an extension, a continuity of the didactic material. The ES should not be seen only as an intermediate or final audio-visual



resource, but as a tool that has several features that can be used for the introduction of certain content or grammatical point.

Teachers use ES for other purposes, but focus on activities such as completing blanks, joining one column according to another, and so on. In this case, the ES will only be acting as a substitute for the textbook, because they are activities that can be present in any printed material. It is not necessary to say that the school uses a form-centered method (grammar), since it was possible to observe how classes are in the classroom by following the routines carried out by the author. However, the use of ES should provide both content learning and offer opportunities for the student to choose what to learn and how to learn.

One positive point observed in the teachers' report is that the students perform the tasks in pairs, this allows the exchange of experiences and promotes the cooperation between peers. The technique of working in pairs is relevant since the teacher can create heterogeneous groups from the point of view of the knowledge of the contents and thus, to provide the learning through the performance of each student.

Moreover, the learning experience performed in pairs or groups is significant since it favors the collective construction of knowledge and one student learns with the other. Also on this aspect, the role of the mediator teacher between the student and the learning through the computer stands out.

Regarding the level of English learning, attention has been drawn to the potential of the interaction with the colleague, facilitated by computer-mediated learning.

Another positive aspect highlighted by the teacher (T8) is the question of the interaction between student and teacher, because in the case cited the teacher makes a survey with the students of the steps to be followed and gives them the option of making decisions. In relation to the ES, this is a very positive factor since the student can understand that its use is not simply mechanized, and his choices will have results in the way he interacts with the program.

6.9.2 Ideal use of Educational Software (ES)

In the questionnaire, question F, of block 3, regarding the ideal use of the ES in the classes, was presented in the form of an open question to allow greater freedom



of expression on the part of the teachers. However, the answers regarding the ideal use of the ES in the English classes focused on the frequency and the mode of use with no answer that emphasized the use for specific activities.

Of the teachers who answered this question, 36.4% suggested increasing the frequency of use: more than one monthly visit (T9) and even at least three a week (T1). What is striking is the way in which teachers see the use of the ES, 45.5% state that the ES should be used after the content presented by the teacher (T6), to review the given subject (T4) or how complementary activity (T5). However, although no teacher has mentioned the use of the ES to introduce new content, this option can not be ruled out, since the introduction of new material through the software resources is also possible.

Thus, at the end of the interviews the teachers received the annex 6 with questions that retake some items already asked.

7 RESULTS

The quantitative data provided important results on the integration of CALL in the context under study. First of all, it was obtained, from the collected, a picture of who the language teachers are in the state of Amapá, in special, in public schools. The majority (78%) are female teachers, aged between 30 and 49 years (69%), with a master's degree (54%) in advanced career (63%) who teach mainly English language (55%). Their workload is on average 18.4 classes per week, with four classes with approximately 25 students each. This workload, therefore, does not imply an impediment to the use of technology, since it is not great for the Brazilian context.

In the qualitative results it was observed that the workload of the interviewed teachers is not restricted to the classroom, since they accumulate several functions at the Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Amapá, city of Macapá, and they participate in numerous projects, programs and orientations as an extra workload. The numerical data of the quantitative phase, therefore, reflect only a part of all the teachers' activities.

With the two sets of results it was observed that the time load is an important factor that affects the availability of time for teachers to invest in continuing education



and preparation of classes. The use of technology for language teaching and learning is still an innovation for most of the respondents in this study and this requires them to take more time to prepare classes and activities that include this dimension. Without this time available they do not invest in this type of training and continue to struggle to include technology in practice. Which leads to a vicious circle. Interviewed teachers who make greater use of technology also argued that teacher work is intensified and time spent on distance projects is not yet recognized in many institutions.

In the sequence will be shown the integration of the results on the multifaceted use of technology by teachers.

7.1 The Multifacted use of Technology

The use of technology was analyzed in this research starting from the premise that it is a multifaceted construct. The quantitative and qualitative results showed the different uses of technology that the participants of this research do in their contexts of classroom. The first phase identified four dimensions of technology use by teachers. After the factorial analysis, the use of technology for the maintenance of academic records (notes, attendance, etc.) and for professional communication with colleagues and students (e-mail, Facebook, etc.) was included. This use was the one that presented the means of higher indexes of frequency. Creating proofs, researching for classes, preparing print materials, creating assignments are activities that teachers routinely do using their computers, as well as communicating using e-mail and social media with students and colleagues. The qualitative results confirmed the results of this first phase.

Internet research for lesson preparation and resource searching was the most important and used according to the teachers. However, it was observed that the respondents did not report more advanced uses such as participation in lists of discussions or communities of practice or even communication with other colleagues in Brazil or abroad for the development of joint projects. They also did not report the search for sites that promote interaction among students from different countries. Although they



used technology in class preparation routinely, however, they did not notice much innovation in this practice.

Respondents who have virtual learning environment abreviated (VLE) at their disposal showed more involvement with ICTs and more interactive uses. The use of an (VLE) had not been included in part 1 of the questionnaire on the use of technology in the first phase, but the results of the qualitative phase showed that their presence is becoming more and more in the teaching institutions and it appears as a stimulus so that the technology can be more explored and integrated in the practice of teachers in the classroom.

The use of technology to minister classes was based on the response to a single item: "How often do you use the computer to teach?" This usage averaged 3.6 for usage frequency ranging from 1 (Never) to 5 (Daily), showing, therefore, a moderate use.

The qualitative phase deepened this result, evidencing the pedagogical uses that the interviewees make of the ICTs and the obstacles that prevent a greater frequency of technology in the classrooms of these teachers. The results of the qualitative phase corroborated the moderate use of technology to minister classes. Unlike the first phase, no interviewee ever claimed to use the computer to minister classes, but many reported the difficulties they face in using technology, which prevents them from attending as often as they would like.

The main activities that most interviewees reported doing with the technology in the classroom were the display of videos, pictures and slideshows. This, in order to illustrate and complement the content of the class and usually linked to a textbook. Again, there is no innovation in pedagogical practice or more advanced uses of ICTs. Almost all respondents acknowledged that they underutilized technology in their classes despite having many advantages in their use.

They are aware, therefore, that there are other possibilities and benefits. But lack of knowledge prevents them from taking advantage of it. In addition, the lack of devices available for use, constant technical problems and the time involved in the preparation and operationalization of activities with technology were other obstacles mentioned.

The use of technology, therefore, requires a reliable infrastructure to encourage teachers to benefit from it, which is not yet true in most of the interviewees' institutions.



In addition, CALL / ICT training is a prerequisite for providing security and preparing teachers for effective use of technology in the classroom.

The use of technology aimed at students to create products or perform tasks presented low frequency results in the quantitative phase. Asking students to use internet resources for their production tasks and written and oral comprehension has averages ranging from moderate to low, ranging from 3.9 to 2.9, where 1 equals Never and 5 equals Always. In the qualitative phase these activities were not reported by almost all of the interviewees

Ask students to produce multimedia projects using their computer, or materials to publish on the web, or still images and videos using the computer had a low average frequency, ranging from 3.1 to 2.2, the lowest recorded in this part of the uses of technology. In the qualitative phase, as noted above, these activities were not reported by almost all respondents.

The exceptions were two teachers who have an individual degree of innovation higher than the other interviewees who reported requesting some activities with this technology. Four interviewees who have (VLE) request participation in forums and eventually one or another of the interviewees mentioned the request for an audio recording. Neither of the interviewees was asked to perform assignments involving students, allowing a real interaction in the target language with other students or people (natives or not) through online plataforms. The request for the use of technology appears incidentally as a suggestion for students to consult the Internet and occasionally indications are made of sites. It is important to note that the state of Amapá is located on the border with French Guiana.

The use of technology in the qualitative phase not only corroborated the results of the quantitative as well as showing that the picture is apparently a little worse and was characterized by the non-use of technology.

These qualitative results on the infrequent use or the non-use of technology had as main justification the lack of knowledge of the interviewees about what to ask the students. However, the interviewees revealed that the students on their own use the technology for the development of some tasks, even though this was not requested by



the teachers. That is, technology ends up imposing itself or manifesting itself independently of the teachers.

In the quantitative phase, the use of technology directed to students to use technology during class hours also had low averages, varying from 2.8 to 2.4, except for the item "During class time, how often do your students do presentations to the class using the computer?", which obtained an average of 3.8.

Qualitative results have confirmed that students, in general, make presentations to the class using the computer and PowerPoint software. However, this is not the determination of the teachers who leave it free for the students to decide.

In addition to this type of activity, students' use technology during school hours is infrequent; eventually go to the lab for practice of listening and speaking and Internet research. The main reason for the interviewees not to request the use of technology during the classes is the non-availability of computers for students in the classroom and the fact that the Internet in the room is not reliable. The laboratories also present technical problems and need scheduling.

The use of mobile phone for consultations and research during classes, despite usually not a request from teachers, is becoming a common practice. Again, it is technology that imposes itself or manifests itself in context, creating new challenges for teachers.

With the results of the second phase, deepening quantitative results on the multifaceted use of technology by teachers, it is possible to state that CALL is still an innovation for many of the participants in the research, since for the time being there is no more in-depth knowledge that enables advances and improvements. It is noticed, however, that language teachers are aware that there are various possibilities and advantages in the use of technology.

The use of laboratories is not very frequent and with the qualitative results this result was corroborated and it was possible to have a notion of the actual pedagogical uses of CALL in the classroom and some educational practices that emerge when teachers make use of ICTs.



Therefore, some teachers make use of technology in the preparation of their classes, but they do not serve as models for future language teachers on how to use technology in their classes pedagogically and also do not make their students practice how to pedagogically integrate technology into their practice. The explanation for this is related to their lack of knowledge about CALL and the infrastructure of their institutions.

The use of the categories of adopters of the Individual Innovation Theory of Rogers (1995) for the selection of the interviewees for the qualitative phase made it possible to perceive the presence of some dominant characteristics of these categories in the interviewees. And it was also possible to relate the four uses of technology to the five categories. The innovators and the early adopters were those that showed more involvement and more frequent uses of the four dimensions, remaining as exceptions before the other interviewees.

Despite one exception or another, the voice of the majority, that is, the categories anticipated majority, late majority and delayed, showed to be convergent and corroborated the results of the first phase. It was possible to observe that these individual characteristics of the categories of adopters can be used to focus on how to improve and integrate the uses of the four dimensions of technology.

Although there are more elements with the second phase, it is not possible to determine with certainty at what stage of Rogers's Decision-Innovation Process Theory (1995) every use of technology is found. Apparently, some teachers for some CALL activities are in stage 1-Knowledge, mainly for practices uses. Others are in stage 2 - Persuasion. But, it would be necessary to identify the activities of the CALL and to do a greater detail so that one could make more affirmations about it, which was not the focus of this study. The use of stages, however, shows that the integration of CALL is a process and as such the identification of each stage helps in the development of more effective strategies for its integration. The integration of results into individual factors will be seen in the next section.

7.2 The Individual Factors

Individual factors include the beliefs and attitudes of teachers with the use of computers / technology for language teaching, digital literacy and personal data. With regard to beliefs and attitudes the quantitative results were moderate, indicating neutral



attitude - mean 3.6 (where 1 = Totally Disagree and 5 = Totally Agree). The result of the test of the signs showed that the level of agreement with the statements is greater than the level of discordance, reflecting more positive than negative attitudes regarding the use of technology for language teaching.

Although the focus of the interviews did not include beliefs and attitudes, it was that the respondents, in general, showed and none of them demonstrated resistance or refusal in relation to ICTs. Some interviewees, however, have reported being afraid of the new resources and this is an aspect that should not be ignored when developing CALL integration projects. On the other hand, two respondents (one in the category of latecomers and the other in the category of earlycomers) have shown an enchantment, which also needs to be worked out so that the belief that CALL is not the solution to all problems.

In the quantitative part, the scale on digital literacy sought to measure perceptions of language teachers about their general use of computers. The mean responses were 3.8 (where 1 = Totally Disagree and 5 = Totally Agree). The basic tasks involving ICTs had the highest means, ranging from 4.7 to 4.1, revealing that they are not obstacles for teachers. However, knowledge about blogs, wikis, more advanced uses presented the lowest averages. In other words, the teachers' perception of their general computer skills is, in general, that they consider themselves to be more competent than less competent. Considering the two results, it is possible to affirm that the teachers believe to have a certain domain of use of the computers.

The qualitative results showed that the digital literacy of almost all interviewees occurred during the period in service and can be described as informal. Respondents explained that what they know has learned on their own, using the Internet itself as a source of information and / or contact with others. With respect to formal learning, the great majority reported having done at least one course, but the main characteristics of the courses mentioned were short duration and general and sporadic courses. Almost all participants did not take specific courses on CALL.

Six interviewees (37%) reported a lack of digital literacy. A number considering the results obtained in the first phase. Of these 6 interviewees, only one had a mean of 1.5 in the first phase of the literacy study. All others had averages above 3.7.



This discrepancy in the results may indicate that the skills included in the scale of part 3 of the questionnaire are contemplating very basic knowledge, which for the interviewees are already normalized and incorporated into their routine. And that, therefore, perhaps they do not consider such synonymous abilities of technology. That's because in the interviews some said they did not know how to use the technology. Or maybe even this may be related to one of the disadvantages of using questionnaires: the validity problem, that is, it is not always possible to be sure that the information given corresponds to the reality.

In general, the knowledge of technological resources of teachers interviewed is limited and questionable and are content to solve momentary needs without planning to invest in continuing education. Again, there is an indication that this part of the questionnaire needs to be reviewed.

The reasons that the interviewees reported on what led them to involve technology in language teaching and / or invest in their digital literacy - formal or informal were personal interest, need, curiosity and also circumstantial reasons. What was perceived is that personal interest was decisive for digital literacy to be greater. In other words, knowing the personal characteristics of teachers can help to develop activities aimed at digital literacy.

The support offered by most of the educational institutions where the interviewees for the digital literacy of their teachers is basically the offer of general courses on technology and courses aimed at the use of virtual environments, especially when the institution has or is implementing an (VLE). The role they play is still accessory, apparently to show they are doing their part. There is, however, no concern to meet the different needs of teachers in the different areas of teaching, each with its specific characteristics.

The results on the digital literacy of teachers interviewed in the second phase of the study showed how this literacy occurred, the motivations of the interviewees and the role of their educational institutions on this issue. They also provide possible explanations and shed light on understanding the not-so-often-used uses of technology by teachers reported in the two phases of the study. By integrating the results of the two phases, some questions have been deepened and the clarity of how digital literacy



occurs. However, discrepancies have also emerged indicating the need to review general technology knowledge focused on this part.

Personal data were not used for deepening and, therefore, there was no need to integrate the results of the two phases of the research. With all the information obtained from the interviews it would be possible to further deepen the results by seeing possible relationships with gender, age, degree, time of magistrates and time of use of the computer, but this would extend the research further. The results below present the integration of the results for the previous training in CALL /ICTs of the research participants.

7.3 Prior Training/Experience

In the first phase of this study, teachers' previous training or experience regarding the use of computers and / or technology was analyzed from a scale that focused on four different cases of this training: (1) if the teacher did specific courses to use the computer / technology for teaching and learning languages during graduation; (2) whether the teacher has taken any course in technology or computer science in general during graduation; (3) whether the teacher has taken specific courses to use computer / technology for teaching and learning languages after being trained as a teacher; and (4) whether the teacher has taken any course in technology or computer science generally after being trained as a teacher.

The results at this stage showed that a very small number - 9.8% - of participants took specific CALL courses during graduation and after formed the number is slightly higher - 30.2%. The results for general courses are also not high: 17.7% during graduation and 35.5% after graduation. The duration of the courses indicated by the great majority was less or approximately 30 hours. These results showed that teachers are likely to develop their skills in the use of technology outside the working academic environment.

In the qualitative phase the teachers' reports showed that none of the interviewed had taken CALL course during graduation and in the period in service that number was very small. With regard to the general courses there was mention the accomplishment of at least one course by the great majority. Results were close to those of the quantitative phase, considering that in the two phases the samples were small.



The great majority reported having been short term. These results showed that the training of teachers on CALL / ICTs is generally limited, informal and result of self learning to solve momentary problems or needs. And they prove that teachers develop their skills outside the formal environment of institutions.

With the integration of the results on digital literacy and the CALL / ICT teachers are able to understand the unexpected result that has emerged in the quantitative phase: the fact is that teachers perceive themselves to be digitally competent but have made a limited number of courses on technology, both general and specific for language teaching. If training was limited, what is the origin of this perception of digital competence? The answer, therefore, lies in the informal training they experience in their day-to-day life and refers to the basic uses and skills of the computer. The integration of the results on the contextual factors is the next topic to be presented.

7.4 Contextual Factors

The quantitative results showed that the context of educational institutions regarding the availability of equipment and the infrastructure required for its use is not yet ideal. The vast majority of teachers can not count on rooms equipped with computers for students and teachers and also lack full-time technical support. Approximately half of the teachers need to bring equipment if they want to use it in their classrooms. The prevailing model are the laboratories. This requires that teachers and students move from the classrooms and student access to these laboratories is still restricted outside of class time.

In the qualitative phase the teachers' reports supported the results of the first phase and provided more detail on the context. Most of the interviewees have at their disposal rooms with projection equipment, but only 3 teachers reported having a computer for their own use in the rooms. They have, however, equipment available in the department.

All the interviewees reported having Internet in the classrooms, but the vast majority reported many problems in their use, in addition, they emphasized several other technical problems that they face: lack of equipment maintenance, lack of equipment, lack of technical support, etc... All interviewees have access to laboratories, but as with



classrooms they face technical problems and problems with the Internet. Many reported difficulties in scheduling and also the time spent traveling to laboratories.

With the results of the two phases of the study it is possible to affirm that the context of the researched educational institutions is very far from the ideal. Most teachers do not have equipment ready for their own use or for their students, do not have guaranteed access to the Internet, as well as face constant technical problems. There is no guarantee or assurance that the class or activities you have done using technology can actually happen as planned. The next section presents the main predictors for the uses of technology by the teachers of this study resulting from the regression analyzes performed in the quantitative phase and how these results are integrated with the information obtained in the qualitative phase.

7.5 Main Factors for CALL Integration

The results of the regression models of the first quantitative phase showed two important predictors for the integration of CALL in the courses of Letters of the state of the state of Amapá: the individual factors and the contextual factors.

As discussed earlier, individual factors encompass teachers' beliefs and attitudes regarding the use of computers / technology for language teaching, digital literacy and personal data, totaling 42 variables. After the factorial analysis, this set of factors started to have 15 variables: Beliefs and Attitudes, Literacy: basic use, Literacy: technical skills, Literacy: advanced use, plus 3 items that were not explained by these four factors and personal data.

In the qualitative phase digital literacy emerged as an important factor for the little use or non-use of technology by the interviewees. And the interviewees the ones that reported the most varied and frequent use of technology were precisely those that showed a more advanced digital literacy. This can be seen in their speeches when mentioning programs, applications and activities that reflected this knowledge. All this, corroborating the quantitative results mentioned above.

In the regression models of the quantitative phase, beliefs and attitudes also had statistically significant results for the uses of differents software applied to teaching and learning languages. The greater the agreement with the items referring to beliefs and



attitudes, the greater the use of technology. In the interviews it was possible to verify that the teachers with more interest in technology, that is, those who clearly demonstrated positive attitudes were those who reported more make use of technology.

The use of Rogers' Individual Theory of Innovation (1995) in interviews helped not only to outline some of the technological characteristics of the research participants, but also helped to corroborate the importance of individual factors as a predictor for CALL uses, since it is related to personality characteristics and values, as well as the focus on adopting innovation.

As in the interviews the purpose was the voice of the majority of participants, it was important to make use of Rogers' Individual Theory of Innovation (1995), since this made it possible to verify that the exceptions of the uses of the technology were directly related to the participants with higher degree of individual innovation. The theory has helped to show that these patterns of technology adoption exist.

In the interviews all these results related to the context were corroborated. Since the availability of equipment has been configured as an important factor for a greater use of technology, both the teacher and the student. Respondents reported using little laboratories, but the above results prove that what teachers need is for their students to have the equipment available for use. Only then will it be possible to demand such use from them, whether in laboratories or in the classroom. The reason reported for teachers practically did not request tasks with technology was lack of knowledge about the technology, about what to ask the students. As seen above, perhaps with technical and departmental support, in terms of courses, this could be solved.

In summary, the contextual factors were highlighted as important elements for CALL integration, both in the quantitative and qualitative phases. In the quantitative phase the previous training / experience in CALL / ICT had no significant statistical impact for any of the four uses of the technology. However, these results were based on very small numbers. This is because number of teachers who took courses in technology was very small, and consequently the statistical results may have been affected.

In the interviews, this small number of teachers with previous training in CALL / ICT was also confirmed. But, reports have shown that despite the formal training was little, informal training was the current practice cited by the interviewees. Apparently this



may be the explanation of why the training had no impact on the uses of technology in the first phase.

In the questionnaire in the first phase of the research the training questions included only information on the formal training of teachers. The formation was not considered. With the results of the qualitative phase, the need for the inclusion of informal training in order to obtain statisticians. Only in this way would it be possible to say whether training is an important factor for CALL integration.

With the integration of the quantitative and qualitative results, the CALL integration framework is completed in the courses of Letters of the State of Amapá, from the perspective of the teachers. With the results obtained here it can be inferred that the individual and contextual factors are really important predictors for the integration of the CALL, however, the formation in CALL / ICt can not be disregarded and it is necessary that the informal formation be included in future studies in order to arrive at results that are closer to the reality of the context under study. In the next chapter the final considerations of the study are made.

8 CONCLUSION

The research problem of this study sought to understand how the integration of CALL / ICTs by language teachers in classrooms is carried out at the Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Ampá. It was found that this was a complex problem involving different uses of technology by teachers, teacher training, context and the teachers themselves with their personal characteristics, knowledge, beliefs, attitudes and degree of individual innovation.

Adopting a quantitative or qualitative approach would not result in a comprehensive report and one would not have a broad understanding of this research problem. It was then chosen by a study of mixed methods sequential explanatory. The reasons for this research design, therefore, were completeness - the possibility of a comprehensive account of the CALL integration - and the explanation - the qualitative phase helping to explain the results of the quantitative phase.



According Creswell (2010) "the philosophical conceptions or paradigm behind a study of mixed methods is pragmatism" he explains that "in pragmatism there is a concern with applications, what works, and solutions to problems". The problem is emphasized and all available approaches are used to understand this problem and to derive knowledge. That is, pragmatism opens the door to different methods, conceptions, assumptions and also to different forms of data collection and analysis. The focus, therefore, is the research problem and the intention is to provide the best understanding of this problem.

In the present study the focus was exactly this one. The study began with a broad survey to generalize the results and then in the qualitative phase focused on qualitative interviews aiming at other detailed viewpoints of the participants.

The research problem of the quantitative phase was to determine the factors that influence the English language teachers of the state of Amapá to integrate CALL / ICT in the classroom. The findings of this phase showed that individual factors and contextual factors are important predictors of CALL / ICT integration.

The problem of the qualitative phase was to deepen the results of the quantitative phase. The findings showed that apparently the previous training of teachers in CALL / ICTs should not be discarded and corroborated the other two sets of factors as influential in the integration of CALL / ICTs.

All specific objectives were achieved:

- Identify the different uses of technological resources that teachers of the technical courses do, as well as of the undergraduate courses.
- 2. Check if the previous training in CALL / ICT of language teachers influences the different uses of technology in the English Language classroom of undergraduate courses as well as technical courses at the Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Amapá - IFAP.

At first, previous training has no influence on the uses of technology by teachers, but it is necessary to include informal training in CALL / ICTs in order to have results that approximate the reality of the teachers participating in the research.



3. Verify that individual factors (attitudes and digital literacy) affect the different uses of technology in the English Language classroom at IFAP.

The individual factors proved to be important predictors of CALL/ ICTs integration, influencing the uses of technology.

4. Verify that the personal characteristics (age, gender, etc.) and the workload of language teachers are related to the different uses of technology in the English Language classroom of undergraduate courses at the Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Amapá.

The variable doctoral degree had a statistically significant positive impact indicating that teachers with this degree tend to use more technology to prepare classes than teachers with the other degrees. Although the personal data were not used for further study in the qualitative phase, it was possible to notice in the interview reports that the investment in continuing education resulted in a greater contact with the technology, even though technology was not the focus of the courses.

It was also observed that age has a statistically significant negative impact, indicating that the older the professional, the less he uses the technology to prepare classes. And the female gender variable presented a statistically significant negative impact, indicating that female teachers tend to request less that their students use the technology in the creation of products / accomplishment of tasks.

In the interviews there were no differences related to gender and age, but as mentioned, this was not deepened. As for the workload, in the interviews the workload emerged as an important factor that affects the availability of time of the teachers to invest in the continuous formation and in the preparation of classes that make use of the CALL.

5. Identify if the contextual factors (material conditions, non-material conditions) are related to the different uses of technology.

It was not possible to make the analysis on the technological climate because the percentage of teachers with previous experience in CALL / ICTs was identified as very small, as well as the number of hours dedicated to these courses, which made the analysis unfeasible.



Determine which of the three sets of factors (previous training in technology, individual factors, contextual factors) has more influence in the integration of CALL / ICTs in the English Language classroom.

Individual factors, by influencing the uses of technology by teachers, emerged as the most influential. However, it is necessary to review the previous training factor, including informal training in order to have confirmation of this result.

7. Check how digital literacy of language teachers occurs.

In general, teachers' digital literacy occurs by individual initiative and informally, with the Internet and / or other people, with the objective of solving immediate problems and basic questions of the use of technology, without focusing on continuing education.

8. Identify the reasons that encourage language teachers to invest in their training in CALL / ICTs.

The main reason for investing in CALL / ICTs training depends on personal interest. This was identified in the interview reports, which showed that the higher the personal interest in technology, the greater the digital literacy of teachers. Other reasons that contribute to digital literacy are the needs, the curiosity and also circumstantial reasons.

9. Check the actual use that language teachers make of CALL / ICTs in the English Language classroom.

The pedagogical uses most of the interviewees make of CALL / ICTs were the exhibition of videos, images and slide shows to illustrate and complement the content of the class and usually linked to a textbook. That is, uses that reflect traditional educational practices in language teaching. In general, there is no innovation in pedagogical practice or more advanced uses of CALL / ICTs, but the replacement of equipment.

 Check why language teachers ask little of their students to use technology in the classroom.

For the great majority of teachers interviewed the main reason for not asking or asking for their students to use the technology in the classroom is the lack of equipment for use by students available in the classroom and the technical difficulties.



11. Check why English language teachers do not ask their students to use technology in the classroom.

For the vast majority of teachers interviewed the main reason is the lack of knowledge about what to ask the students.

12. Draw the current panorama of CALL in the technical courses and undergraduate courses at IFAP.

The results showed that the integration of CALL is still at an early stage in most classroom. CALL is used to complement activities of the adopted textbook, to illustrate themes that are being worked on, to answer occasional questions, but not very frequently, not being a regular practice of teachers. In the preparation of classes, its use, although not very innovative, is frequent and shows itself integrated to this teaching practice. Uses aimed at students are practically non-existent.

Many teachers still need to be aware that there are specific technologies or software elements that when combined with other more conventional elements form a whole that works and is effective. There are no policies or planning in the institutions of the teachers interviewed so that the integration of technology in general, much less specific to language teaching. Teachers realize the importance of CALL, but have no guidance and do not know how, exactly, integration can occur. Continuing formal training in CALL / ICTs is not a current practice, and the contribution of institutions is generally the provision of sporadic and / or distance learning general courses.

The panorama of CALL analyzed shows a nebulous picture in which obstacles related to infrastructure, the lack of time, support and knowledge of the teachers about CALL, are obstacles that delay a real and effective integration. The future, as seen in the reports about the formation in CALL in the undergraduate courses also does not appear promising, because in general, this formation is very limited. Much still needs to be done.

However, the teachers participating in the research showed favorable attitudes regarding the use of technology, which, in several studies indicates lead to a greater use of ICTs. According to Rogers (1995), "people's attitudes towards new technologies are a key element for their diffusion". This, therefore, may be indicative of that although the CALL panorama surveyed is not among the best there are chances of change. In addition, students bring technology to class via cell phones and make use of them in



class, even without the request of teachers. Although there is often a repetition of teachers' practices, some of them can be innovate. Technology manifests itself and its presence in the classroom seems inexorable.

Teachers need to better prepare themselves for CALL to be integrated in an advantageous and meaningful way in the context of language teaching. And more importantly, they need to prepare their students, future language teachers, to use technology to break this vicious circle.

With the results shown above, the general objective of this study has also been reached and it is possible to understand how the integration of CALL / ICTs in the English Language classroom can be understood from the perspective of language teachers.

In order to understand this problem, the spherical integration model of CALL was used as an analytical reference, thus providing a starting point and inferential structure for the analysis and interpretation of the data obtained both in the quantitative and qualitative phases. The results obtained, at first, did not confirm the influence of previous training on teachers' technology as an influential factor in CALL integration. But, as has also been observed, the training variable needs to be reviewed and this inclues informal training in CALL, and a larger number of respondents are required to have this prior training to actually prove this initial finding.

However, by synthesizing the main factors that affect CALL integration and simplifying the complexity of this issue, the model was very useful in the present research. It was possible to broaden the previous findings and to have a clear inferential structure, which facilitated the analyzes.

By using Rogers' Theory of Innovation Diffusion (1995) in the analysis and interpretation of the results it was possible to see that the degree of individual innovation generates patterns in the process of integration of CALL / ICTs. It was also possible to outline some of the individual characteristics of teachers in relation to technology. It was not intended to determine the characteristics of the adopters in detail. But when one realizes that these characteristics can be observed and categorized, then it is possible to focus on specific strategies to deal with each group and to meet their needs, thus increasing the integration of CALL.



The Decision-Innovation Process Theory by Rogers (1995) made it possible to verify that the integration of CALL is a process and depending on the use of technology and / or activities and this may be carried out in one of the five stages established by the theory. It was not intended to do this detailing, but the identification of each of the stages also helps in the development of more effective strategies for the integration of CALL.

One of the consequences of the comprehensive report and detailed understanding of the research problem in using a mixed-method study was the achievement of several additional findings. These findings have occurred both in the quantitative and qualitative phases and are related to the two data collections and go beyond the data obtained.

The first finding was the lack of a federal or state database that lists teachers according to the disciplines they teach and the level of education they serve.

The national Institute of Educational Studies and Research INEP in Brazil conducts studies and researches on the Brazilian educational system making statistical surveys at all levels of education. However, such surveys do not make the subdivision by discipline taught. This type of information is fundamental for research that focuses on specific categories of educators and also helps to create a network of contacts for state and national projects.

The second finding showed how the Ministry of Education and Culture in Brazil (MEC) register presents problems that make it difficult to consult on institutions of higher education and their courses. The system is confusing and there is no standardization of information. Courses do not follow a common nomenclature and this increases the number of existing courses. The same course, for example, can be cataloged with three different names. In addition, the registration is not updated regularly and also does not bring the date of the updates.

These two findings are contrary to what should happen with respect to access and sharing of information. In times of contacts facilitated by the use of the Internet, it was still necessary to use the telephone to obtain the participants for this study.

The third discovery was the closing of several undergraduate courses of Letters. This happened with some private institutions and the main reason was the lack of interested students. This disinterest is worrying if we consider the increasingly important



role of foreign languages in the training of students as citizens and also of being more than a prerequisite for entering the labor market.

The fourth finding is related to the use of online interviews. This is a practice that is becoming more frequent in surveys involving interviews. The option for this type of interview was for convenience, since face-to-face interviews would require much more time, which was not available.

Despite the difficulties that would be faced with the addition of technology, it would not be possible to ignore the potential of this type of interview and avoid its use, precisely in a research whose central topic is technology. It is not enough to speak of the use of technology, it is necessary to put into practice to have the real notion of advantages and disadvantages. The problems actually happened, not only technicians, but also participants who gave up participating. The advantages, however, overcame these difficulties.

The online interviews proved their efficiency because they provided more relevant information than if they had done it by phone or email. This can even be proven because with two participants it was not possible to use Skype with video camera on the screen of the notebook, only the audio, which is practically a telephone connection.

Several learning emerged from this experience, including related to the recordings and programs that are necessary to conduct an online interview, in addition to the procedures involved in conducting the interviews.

The fifth discovery is about the virtual learning environment VLE. In the interviews it was possible to see that teachers who have a VLE in their institution end up participating more in courses and getting more involved with technology. With institutions offering more and more distance learning courses or courses with a percentage of distance learning classes, the use of VLE is a trend that is likely to become increasingly large. It is important to emphasize that some interviewed teachers work in more than one instituition of teaching. Some teachers and professors work at the Federal Institute while others work in state schools making it possible to obtain data from other public schools.

From the results obtained in this study on the integration of CALL it is possible to affirm that in the studied context, the Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e



Tecnologia do Ampá, presents CALL restricted in some aspects and open and integrated in others.

Therefore, in Brazil the use of digital resources in the classroom is still restricted due some teachers still have difficulties in using such resources and that the stage of CALL in Brazil is to seek to understand teaching and learning practices through ICTs. The only difference is that the results of this study showed that it is not just the lack of knowledge to use digital resources that is responsible for the small use of CALL.

Based on these factors, and using the results obtained here, will be made some recommendations for the context of this study, which are configured as practical implications.

Considering the above points and as it was seen that the institution do not generally provide adequate infrastructure (probably a problem related to the lack of funds) a possible solution would be to invest in the robust, reliable and fast Internet. Investing in the Internet connection would enable students and teachers to use their own equipment, which as we have seen is becoming more and more common practice.

This would avoid trips to the laboratories and minimize technical problems, since each would be responsible for their equipment. Bringing technology into classrooms seems to be the most viable path, so the first step is then the availability of the Internet. Of course, depending on the context, not all students would be able to bring the material, but working in pairs is always an option, until it is possible for institutions to acquire equipment for everyone.

Knowledge and skills with computers are essential for language teachers to feel secure. But, as seen in the interviews, formal training in CALL is almost non-existent and only informal training has proven to be inefficient, since most of the uses that teachers make of CALL are basic activities.

Based on the reports of the interviewees it was observed that this training should be the responsibility of the institution and should be mandatory so that they can fit it into their running agenda. Or there must be some kind of reward that motivates them to participate. In addition, short timely courses that address the immediate needs of teachers should be offered, preferably in the planning weeks that usually occur at the beginning of each semester / year.



If the courses are practical and motivating this could lead to a greater interest and thus the teachers themselves could take the initiative to request new courses during the semester / year.

The courses should respect the individual needs of teachers and preferably a needs analysis should be done so that teachers in the late category do not feel uncomfortable and so that innovators or early adopters do not get bored. Applying a questionnaire preliminarily to see the interests and to be able to see the degree of individual innovation of the teachers can help in an offer of courses with more chances of improvement.

In addition, it is not enough to show only the technical part of technology, it is necessary to show the pedagogical uses and in a way that the teachers can visualize this in their practice.

Interviews showed that most language teachers adopt textbooks. Publishers therefore appear to be an important element in the integration of CALL in classrooms. If the educational materials bring supplements that bring practical activities using technology and related to the contents worked and detailed explanations on how to develop these activities, this could lead to a greater use of the ICTs.

The suggestion of supplementary material is due to the speed of changes in the field of technology. And if this material contemplated the uses of technology seen in this study, it would facilitate and encourage more frequent use of technology. The major international publishers already invest in materials that focus specifically on the use of technology and some textbooks bring some suggestions for activities and student books are accompanied by a virtual activity book.

However, there is still caution in this area and online books are virtually copies of the printed. But teachers and institutions could try to get closer to publishers and make suggestions for integrating technology into materials.

The responsibility for integrating CALL, then, should not fall only in the hands of language teachers, even if they are in the categories of innovators or early adopters. However, the role of the educational institution should be to prepare the teachers to face this new challenge.



It is necessary that the conditions are set for teachers to act, and this includes not only infrastructure, but also time. The first steps to integration can begin in the departments of Letters. A joint movement, the language teachers and institution in general is likely to be more successful than individual initiatives.

It is critical, however, that investment in formal training in CALL is not just for language teachers already trained. The courses of letters need to do their part by preparing future language teachers to integrate CALL into their future teaching practice. As the interviewees themselves suggested, the courses of Letters could integrate CALL in didactic-pedagogical disciplines. And even better, if the other disciplines could also do this integration, thus allowing CALL to be introduced in a relevant and contextualized way with language teachers serving as examples in their classes.

The integration of CALL considering the use of technology as multifaceted is a way to begin to familiarize pre and in-service teachers. Instead of focusing on technology in general, focusing on specific types of uses, emphasizing differences in uses, available applications, possibilities and practices to use various technologies to support and improve various aspects of language teaching and learning making this task more easy and simple.

It is hoped that the results here obtained could contribute for language teachers in a given context through integration of technology in their classes in order to become easier this process.

9 BIBLIOGRAPHY

Ahmad, Khurshid et al. (1985). Computers, language learning and language teaching. Cambridge: CUP, p. 158.

Burden, (2000) Powerful classroom management strategies Motivating students.

Brown, A. (1992) a Survey of Attitudes and Teaching Practices Related to Pronunciation Teaching. Professional Development Unit, Adult Migrant Education Service - W.A.

Chappelle, Carol A.; Hegelheimer, Volker, (2004). The language teacher in the 21st century. *New perspectives on CALL for second language classrooms*. Mahwah / London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, pp. 299-316.



Cope, Bill and Mary Kalantzis (2000) (eds), Multiliteracies: Literacy Learning and the Design of Social Futures, Routledge, London, pp. 350.

Celce-Murcia, M. Brinton, D, Goodwin, J. (1996) *Teaching Pronunciation:* A Reference for Teachers of English to Speakers of other languages. Cambridge University Press. NY.

Chapelle, C. A. (2003). English language learning and technology: Lectures on applied linguistics in the age of information and communication technology. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.

Crystal, David (2002). A dictionary of linguistics and phonetics. 5th edition. Oxford: Blackwell.

Creswell, J. (2010) "Mapping the developing landscape of mixed methods research", in in Sage Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social & Behavioral Research, Tashakkori, A. and Teddlie, C. (Eds) 2010, Sage, California, pp 45-68.

Chapelle, C. (2001). Computer applications in second language acquisition: Foundations for teaching, testing and research. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Dudeney, Gavin; Hockly, Nicky; Pegrum, Mark. (2013). Digital Literacies. Harlow: Pearson, p. 387.

Dudeney, Gavin; Hockly, Nicky, (2007). How to teach English with technology. Essex: Pearson Education Limited, p. 192.

Derwing T, Munro M., (1995). Second Language Accent and Pronunciation teaching: A Research-based Approach.

Ellis, R. (1994). the Study of Second Language Acquisition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Ellis, R. (1992). Second language acquisition and language pedagogy.

Egbert, Joy L. Hubbard, Philip; Levy, Mike, (2006). Learning in context: situating language teacher learning in CALL. In: (Ed.). Teacher Education in CALL. Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company, pp. 167-181.

Ferdinand de Saussure, (1916). Course in general Linguistics. The Philosophical Library, New York City.

Gilbert, J. (2008). Teaching Pronunciation Using the Prosody Pyramid. CUP. USA.

Hamers, J. and W. Lambert & Segalowitz and F. Gruber (1977) "Visual field and cerebral hemisphere preferences in bilinguals." (Eds.), Language Development and Neurological Theory. New York: Academic Press, pp. 57-62.

Hall, J. K. & Walsh, M. (2002) Teacher-student interaction and language learning Annual Review of Applied Linguistics.

Heward, W. L., Courson, F. H., & Narayan, J. S. (1989). using choral responding to increase active student responding during group instruction.

Hockly, N. (2009). Teachers and technology. Modern English Teacher 18 (2), pp. 55-57.

Hubbard, P. (1996). Elements of CALL methodology: Development, evaluation and implementation. In M. Pennington (Ed.), The Power of CALL (pp. 15-32). Houston: Athelstan.



Johnson, K. (2001). An Introduction to Foreign Language Learning and Teaching. London: Longman (Learning About Language).

Jones L. (2007). The Student - Centred Classroom. Cambridge. Cambridge University Press.

Jack C. Richards & Charles Lockhart (2000). Reflective Teaching in Second Language Classrooms .65 Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Jenkins, J. (2000). the Phonology of English as an International Language. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Jwaifell, Mustafa; Gasaymeh, Al-Mothana, (2013). Using the Diffusion of Innovation. Theory to Explain the Degree of English Teachers' Adoption of Interactive Whiteboards in the Modern Systems School. Contemporary Educational Technology, pp.138-149.

Kern, Richard; Warschauer, Mark. (2000) Introduction: theory and practice of network-based language teaching. In: (Ed.). *Network-based language teaching: concepts and practice*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 1-19.

Kessler, Greg.(2010), Review of Computer Assisted Language Learning: Critical Concepts in Linguistics. Language Learning & Technology, pp. 14-18.

Kaptelinin, Victor. Nardi, Bonnie A. (1996). Activity Theory: *Implications for Human-Computer Interaction*. Context and Consciousness: Activity Theory and Human-Computer Interaction. Cambridge: The MIT Press,. Cap. 5. pp. 53-59.

Karasavvidis, Ilias, (2009). Activity Theory as a conceptual framework for understanding teacher approaches to Information and Communications Technologies. Com puters and Education, Cap.7, pp. 436-444.

Keengwe, Jared; Kidd, Terry; Kyei-Blankson, Lydia. (2009). Faculty and Technology: *Implications for Faculty Training and Technology Leadership*. Journal of Science Education & Technology, [S. I.], v. 18, n. 1, pp.23-28.

Kachru, B. (1982). *Models for non-native Englishes. The other Tongue: English across Cultures*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Klein, W. (1986). Second Language Acquisition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (Cambridge Textbooks in Linguistics).

Krashen S.D. (1985): Language Acquisition and Language Education. Prentice Hall International.

Levis, J. (2011). Assessing speech intelligibility: Experts listen to two students.

Liu, Shih-hsiung, (2011). Factors related to pedagogical beliefs of teachers and technology integration. Computers and Education, [S.l.], v. 56, n. 4, pp. 1012-1022.

Lomicka, Lara; Cooke-Plagwitz, Jessamine (2004). *Teaching with technology*. Boston: Thomson / Heinle, p. 271.

Levy, Michael, (1997). Computer-Assisted Language Learning: context and conceptualization. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 298 p.



Leone, P. (2012). Content Domain and Language Competence in Computer-mediated 110 Conversation for Learning. Apples – Journal of Applied Language Studies Vol. 6 (2),pp.131–153

Levy, Mike; Hubbard, Philip. (2005) Why call CALL "CALL"? Computer Assisted Language Learning, [S.I.], v. 18, n. 3, pp. 143-149.

Larsen-Freeman, Diane. (2000) *Techniques and principles in language teaching*. 2nd. ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, p.189.

Mackey, A., Gass, S. M. (2005). Second language research: Methodology and design. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Munro, M. J. (2011). Intelligibility: Buzzword or buzz worthy? In. J. Levis & K. LeVelle (Eds.). *Proceedings of the 2nd Pronunciation in Second Language Learning and Teaching Conference*, Sept. 2010. (pp.7-16), Ames, IA: Iowa State University.

Mumtaz, Shazia. (2000) Factors affecting teachers' use of information and communications technology: a review of the literature. Technology, Pedagogy and Education, pp. 319-342,.

Murphy -Judy, Kathryn; Youngs, Bonnie L. Hubbard, Philip; Levy, Mike. (2006) Technology standards for teacher education, credentialing, and certification. In:. Teacher education in CALL. Amsterdam / Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company, pp. 45-60.

Murphy, Margaret; Poyatos-Matas, Cristina. (2001) A pilot study to test the effectiveness of education Queensland's 'Schooling project from the LOTE teachers' point of view. Australian Journal of Teacher Education, pp. 1-13,.

Meskill, Carla et al. (2002) Expert and novice teachers talking technology: precepts, concepts, and misconcepts. Language Learning & Technology, [S.l.], v. 6, n. 3, pp. 46-57.

Mcgrail, Ewa. (2005) Teachers, technology, and change: English teachers' perspectives. Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, Chesapeake, v. 13, n. 1, pp. 5-24.

Neumeier, P. (2005). A closer look at blended learning: Parameters for designing a blended learning environment for language teaching and learning.

Nunan and Lamb (1996). the self-directed teacher Managing the learning process.

Nunan, David. (1999) A foot in the world of ideas: graduate study through the Internet. Language Learning and Technology, [S.l.], v. 3, n. 1, pp. 52-74.

O'Malley, J.M. & Chamot, A.U., (1990) Learning Strategies in Second Language Acquisition. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press.

O'Malley, J.M., Chamot, A.U., Stewner-Manzanares, G., Küpper, L., & Russo, R.,(1985) Learning strategies used by beginning and intermediate ESL students. Language Learning, 35, pp.21-46.



Olesova, Larissa; Meloni, Christine F. Hubbard, Philip; Levy, Mike, (2006). *Designing and implementing collaborative Internet projects in Siberia*. In: Teacher education in CALL. Amsterdam / Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company. pp. 237-249.

Park, Chan Nim; Son, Jeong-Bae, (2009). *Implementing Computer-Assisted Language Learning in the EFL classroom: teachers' perceptions and perspectives*. International Journal of Pedagogies and Learning, Sippy Downs, v. 5, n. 2, pp. 80-101.

Patton, M. Q. (1989). *Qualitative evaluation methods* (10th printing). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

Perrenound, P. (2001). Formando professores profissionais: quais estratégias? Editora Atica.

Phillips, Martin. Leech, Geoffrey. Candlin, Christopher N. (1984) CALL in its educational context. (Ed.). Computers in English Language Teaching and Research. London / New York: Longman, pp. 2-10.

Phillips, S. R. (2010). Student Discussions in Cooperative Learning Groups in a High School Mathematics Classroom: A Descriptive Multiple Case Study. Doctoral Thesis, The University of Akron, United States -- Ohio.

Peters, Martine. Hubbard, Philip; Levy, Mike (2006) Developing computer competencies for preservice language teachers: Is one course enough? In: (Ed.). Teacher education in CALL. Amsterdam / Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company, pp. 153-165.

Richards, Jack C.;Rodgers, Theodore S. (2001) Approaches and Methods in Language Teaching. 2nd. ed. New York: Cambridge University Press, p. 278. Ribé, R., & Vidal, N. (1993). Project work step by step. Oxford, UK: Heineman.

Russell, Michael et al, (2004). *Technical report for the USEIT study*. Boston, Ma: Boston College, Technology And Assessment Study Collaborative.

Robinson, B. (1997). Getting ready to change: the place of change theory in the information technology education of teachers, in Passey, D. and Samways, B. (eds.), Information Technology: Supporting change through teacher education, Chapman & Hall, London.

Russell, Michael et al (2003). Examining teacher technology use: implications for preservice and inservice teacher preparation. Journal of Teacher Education, [S.I.], v. 54, n. 4, p. 297-310.

Richards, Jack C.; Platt, John; Platt, Heidi (1997). Dictionary of language teaching and applied linguistics. 2nd. ed. Harlow: Longman, 423 p.

Rivoltella, P. C. (2012). Beyond digital natives: European Research on Media Education; Challenges of Technology and Pedagogical Issues. Educational Technology march-april 2012.

Rogers, E. M. (1995). Diffusion of innovations (4th ed.). New York: The Free Press. Smith, L., & Nelson, C. (1985). International intelligibility of English: Directions and resources. World Englishes, 4, 333–342.

Snow, C. and C. Ferguson (1977) (Eds.) Talking to Children: Language Input and Acquisition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.



Stanley, Graham (2013). Language Learning with Technology: Ideas for integrating technology in the classroom. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Selwyn, Neil (2007). The use of computer technology in university teaching and learning: a critical perspective. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, [S.l.], v. 23.

Sharma, Peter. (2008). Reviews: CALL Dimensions: *Options and Issues in Computer-Assisted Language Learning* / A Practical Guide to Using Computers in Language Teaching. Elt Journal, pp. 102-105..

Sharma, Peter; Barrett, Barney, (2007). Blended learning: using technology in and beyond the language classroom. Oxford: Macmillan, 2007. p.160

Saville-Troike, M. (2012). Introducing second language acquisition (2nd ed.). New York, NY:Cambridge University.

Tajra, Sanmya Feitosa (2002). *Informática na Educação: novas ferramentas pedagógicas para o Professor da Atualidade*. 3 ed. rev., atual. e ampl. São Paulo: Editora Érica.

Thorburry, S. (2002). *How to teach vocabulary*. England: Pearson Education Limited. Ur, P., (1998). A course in language teaching. Cabridge University Press.

Thorne, S. L. (2003). Artifacts and cultures-of-use in intercultural communication. Language Learning & Technology, 7 (2), pp.38-67.

Usó-Juan, E., Martinez-Flor, E. and Palmer-Silveira, J.C. (2006). Towards acquiring communicative competence through writing. In Usó-Juan, E., Martinez-Flor, A.(eds) Current Trends in the Development and Teaching of the four Language Skills. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, pp. 383-400.

Warschauer M.(1996). Virtual connections: online activities and projects for networking language learners, Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Second Language Teaching and Curriculum Center.

10. APPENDIX

10. 1 Letter to School Coordination

Letter to the School Coordinator

Macapá, June 23, 2017

Dear Director, Márcio Prado

I hereby request authorization to collect data from my master's research at the Federal Institute of Education, Science and Technology of Amapá.

My research project, is led by supervisor Dr. Claudia Álvarez, is entitled "The Educational Software for Teaching / Learning English Language". In the Methodology of the work it is foreseen to apply questionnaires, conduct interviews and observe classes.



mauricio.oliveira@ifap.edu.br

10.3 Term of Consent

Term of Consent

Research Project: "The Educational Software for Teaching / Learning English Languageg"

I understand that the purpose of this research is to identify and analyze, through a survey, how English teachers use educational software in their classes. I confirm my voluntary participation in this study and understand that I may withdraw from the project at any time and for any reason I deem appropriate. I acknowledge that I received a letter clarifying the procedures (questionnaires, interviews, observation of lessons, accompanied by notes and audio recordings) that will be used in the project and I know my role as a participant. I understand that my name will not be used. I am also aware that parts of the interviews, questionnaires, classroom observations can be used by researchers in papers, conferences, and so on. I understand that a report of the final results will be available to me at the end of the research, if you wish. I acknowledge that I have received a copy of the consent form.

Name:	position of the alteral arrange of may simple of seed place.
Signature:	er a la fin ye is dell'allege I gally 2) at a la cit na anti-patitus ei finnance a finance i a cita della
Phone:	
Address:	you prograte one show all to special profit and a
Date:	the second to with the control of the literature of the latter

Researcher responsible: Mauricio Alves de Oliveira Júnior (Master Student)

Maurício Alves de Oliveira Júnior

Master's Degree in Teaching English as a Foreign Language



mauricio.oliveira@ifap.edu.br

10.4 - Questionnaire

QUESTIONNAIRE " EDUCATIONAL SOFTWARE FOR TEACHING AND LEARNING **ENGLISH LANGUAGE** "

Dear	col	leag	ue:
------	-----	------	-----

I am a student of the Master's Degree in Teaching English as a Foreign Language and I have requested to fill out the questionnaire below. The present questionnaire is inserted in a research work on the use of educational software in teaching English. I would ask your attention to answer all the questions. Your answers will be confidential, and your participation is essential for the conduct of this study. For comments. send message to mauricio.oliveira@ifap.edu.com

My sincere thanks,

Mauricio Alves de Oliveira Júnior Master in Teaching Enghish as a Foreign Language

BLOCK 01

A - Gender:

() Female,

() male

B - Age:

()18 - 25

()26-35() 36-45() 46-55()+de 55

C - Professional situation:

- () Effective Professor
- () Professor responsible for Coordination
- () Contracted professor
- () Graduation student in teaching internship

D - Operating time:



() 1 to 3	() 4	to 6 years	() 6 to 10 years
years			
() 10 to 15 years	() 15 years	s or more	
E - What is your school	I education?		
() In a university, in the o() At a language institute() Lived out of the countr() Another situation. What	ry.		
F - Did you take any co	urse in comput	er science?	
() Yes () No What?			
	SCHOLE HILL CI	Appropriate 61	n breig
Describe: () No What?		MDOJE .	
H - In this school year, choose more than one		English do you teach	n? (You You can
() Basic () I	ntermediate	() Advanced	() Other
I - In the current school	l year, you teac	h for which age rang	je (s):
() Children () t	eenagers	() adults	
	BL	OCK 02	
			Fortes long alternation
A - You access the cor			
() No access	() other	() at home	() at work
() In college	M AND LESS CONTRACTOR	uses or Cyber Cafes	
B - Regarding the time			you use:
() Every day	() 1 to 3 times	s a week	() 15 in 15 days



() 1 time per month () ra	rely	() no access
C - What technologies do you	use in the classr	room? Which are?
D - In your opinion, what are	the benefits of us	ing in-room class?
E - How often do you use the	computer lab wit	h your students?
() Never () rarely		
() Sometimes () often		
Explain:		
F - In the preparation of your the computer?	English classes,	with which purpose (s) do you use
() I do not use the computer to () Internet searches of subjects () Visual audio presentations (e () Elaboration of activities / tests () Another situation. Which one	related to the disc eg Slides, Youtube) s.	ipline.
G - Last year, how many time	s have you used t	the computer with your students?
() Never	() rarely	()sometimes
() Every now and then	() often	() always
H - Indicate what kind (s) of acthe computer / educational so		age with your students when using
() Network communication and	exchange.	
() Query and search of informat	ion.	
() Organization and manageme	nt of information.	
() Production and edition of info	rmation.	
() Recreational activity / games.	amos dell'	
() I use educational software.		
() Another. Which one?		
	BLOCK 03	



- A Do you use the educational software indicated by the school in your classes?
- () Yes (go to question C) () No (continue below)
- B What factors prevent you from using the Educational Software (ES) in English classes?
- C In your opinion, what are the reasons for using the Educational Software in English classes?
- D How do you use Educational software in English classes?
- E What are the factors that favor the pedagogical use of Educational software?
- F What would be the ideal use of Educational software in your classes?
- G What factors do you consider important for using Educational software in English classes?
- G What factors do you consider important for using Educational software in English classes?

Related to methodology and use didactic material	 () Clear objectives regarding the methodology and use of the Educational Software. 		
	() Adequacy to the English curriculum.		
	() Source of innovative materials.		
	() Easy implementation.		
	() Support for deployment and installation. () Practicality / ease of use.		
School Related	Number of computers available. Computers with powerful hardware. Support offered by the school. Ex maintenance of equipment.		
Teacher Related	() The teachers' attitudes towards ES / PC. () The attitudes of teachers towards innovations in general.		
	() The support given to the teacher.		
	() The sex of the teacher.		
	() The subjects taught by the teacher.		
	() The age of the teacher.		



March minds committee (66) problem in pa	() The role of the teacher in and out of school.

H - Mark with an X in only one of the options below:

T A- Totally Agree NO - No opinion	TA	A	NO	D	TD
A - I agree D - Disagree					
TD - Totally Disagree	y vi m	la man		ш	
I would like to know / learn more about the use of ES.					
When using ES in English classes make them more motivating for students.	е				
I use ES to my advantage, but I do not know how to teach my students to use them.	0				
I think Educational Software makes my teacher routines easier.	S				
I think that the ES helps my students to acquire reinforce new and effective knowledge.	1				
I have never been trained in ES and I do not know the possibilities that I have.	е				
The use of ES in English classes requires me to have new skills as a teacher.	е				
I feel apt to use ES.					
My school does not have the conditions to use the computer / ES in English classes.	Э				
My school has a positive attitude toward using ES.					
My students, in many cases, dominate computers bette than I do.	r				Two
I do not feel motivated to use ES with my students.					
I do not know in depth the pedagogical advantages o using ES for my students.	f				

I - Reflecting on the use of ES by schools, in your opinion what are the most difficult obstacles to overcome for a real integration of Educational Software in teaching and learning English Language?

ATTENTION: (Check only 3 options in order of importance to you)

() Lack of technical means (computers, rooms, etc.)



- () Lack of specific human resources for teacher support in face of his computer doubts (eg lack of a technician in the computer lab).
- () Lack of specific teacher training for the integration of the ES into their classrooms.
- () Lack of ES and appropriate technological resources.
- () Lack of motivation of teachers.
- () Lack of prior sensitization of teachers to the use of the ES and their potentialities.
- () Lack of incentive to use the ES in the curriculum.
- () Lack of time flexibility and disciplinary programs.
- () Lack of an appropriate organizational structure in the school (eg, assuming Introduction of ES in order to take them into account in the School's Educational Project).
- () Other. What?

10.5 - Teacher Interview Roadmap

Date:		
Name of the interviewee:		

Guidelines:

The questions below may be expanded during the interview according to the natural order of the conversation. Some answers will require more detailed questions for better understanding. As you answer these questions, feel free to explain and exemplify your answers.

Planning and using Educational Software:

- 1) Do you use educational software resources to prepare classes?
- 2) Do you have or do any planning related to the use of technology in the classroom? What about educational software?
- 3) How do you use this tool in your classes?

Description of the Educational Software:

- 4) Summarize the software used in the classroom.
- 5) What are the most used features?

Opinions about Educational Software:

6) How do you feel when using this tool?



- 7) What are the advantages and disadvantages you see when using Educational Software?
- 8) What are the reasons for using Educational Software in your classes?
- 9) What are the factors that favor the use or not of the Educational Software?
- 10) Does technology help in the learning process? In what sense?

Teaching and learning:

- 11) Does the use of the Educational Software allow to expand forms of learning? If yes, which ones?
- as it happens? If negative, how does the environment / tool not suit?
- 12) Do you see implications of using Educational Software in the learning of your students? Which are?
- 13) What assessment do you make of the use of the Educational Software by your students?

10.6 - Completion of the Questionnaire

Completion of the Questionnaire (Used after the interview)

A - In relation to you teacher, the use of technologies (check one of the options below):

It allows for more diversification of teaching.	Yes	No	l don't
It requires greater availability of time.		Ami	As Alexandr
It requires more time to teach content.			
Facilitates group work.	r Indian		
Promotes more student-centered teaching strategies.	, Indiana		
It favors the meaning and applications of English.			
Other aspects. Which are? (Fill in below)	e wews	1172.0	er de ma

B - What factors prevent you from using the Educational Software (ES) in English classes?

- () Lack of experience in the area of ES and teaching of English.
- () Lack of resources that help teachers when using ES.
- () Absence of technical personnel to assist students during the use of ES.
- () I do not know about ES or computers.



() Lack of time needed to integrate ES into the curriculum. () Absence of financial resources.	
C - What would be the ideal use of ES in your classes? (Cas you wish)	Check as many options
() Review of exercises. () Resolution of exercises. () Use to improve teaching / learning. () Offer new learning options. () Games related to the contents treated in the classroom. () Grammar activities. () Pronunciation activities. () Reading activities. () Activities of listening. () Writing activities. () Observation and practice of dialogues. 10.7 - ES classification and Assessment Model for Teach English	ning and Learning
Classification and Assessment of ES for Teaching and I Name of the SE:	earning English
Publisher:Year:	mit serior at sociates sit-
BLOCK A - CLASSIFICATION OF THE ES	
CLASSIFICATION	Comments
Classification according to use	
Classification according to function	
Classification according to pedagogical foundations	The second secon

BLOCK B - ES ASSESSMENT

1) FIRST CRITERION - INTERACTION STUDENT EDUCATIONAL SOFTWARE AND TEACHER

EASE OF USE	Adequate	Inadequate	Does not have
Instructions		in Francisco	and an experience
Icons and buttons			



Aids and tips Language vs. audience Navigability and mapping Memory Integration			
MOTIVATIONAL RESOURCES	Adequate	Inadequate	Does not have
Attractiveness Pedagogical Challenges User Interaction Screen Layout Cognitive load Responsiveness of pedagogical activities		8	
ADEQUACY OF ACTIVITIES	Adequate	Inadequate	Does not have
Level of activities Question of error and correctness			
ADEQUACY OF MEDIA RESOURCES TO PEDAGOGICAL ACTIVITIES	Adequate	Inadequate	Does not have
Hypertext resources Image and animation features Sound and sound effects			
SOCIAL INTERACTIVITY	Adequate	Inadequate	Does not have
Intragroup interaction Intergroup interaction Transgroup interaction			
FAVORING THE TEACHER'S FACILITATOR'S ROLE	Adequate	Inadequate	Does not have

2) SECOND CRITERION - PEDAGOGICAL FOUNDATION

PEDAGOGICAL FOUNDATION	Adequate	Inadequate	Does not have
The pedagogical foundations are clarified That support the SE Teacher's Guide to Teaching			



3) THIRD CRITERION - THE CONTENT

THE CONTENT	Adequate	Inadequate	Does not have
Relevance of content Adequacy to the learning situation Variety of approaches Previous knowledge			

